

National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Service des thèses canadiennes

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

•--

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

. . . .



.

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

CYANOBACTERIAL TOXIN OCCURRENCE IN SOME PRAIRIE DRINKING WATER SOURCES

ΒY

SANDRA KENEFICK

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF CIVIL ENGINEERING

> EDMONTON, ALBERTA SPRING, 1991



National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 du Canada

Bibliothèque nationale

Service des thèses canadiennes

The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-66715-X

Canadä

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR:SANDRA L. KENEFICKTITLE OF THESIS:CYANOBACTERIAL TOXIN OCCURRENCEIN SOME PRAIRIE DRINKING WATER SOURCES

DEGREE: MASTER OF SCIENCE YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1991

Permission is hereby granted to the UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of the thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

. Hand &

PERMANENT ADDRESS: 9853-74 Avenue Edmonton, Alberta T6E 1G1

Date: _____

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled **Cyanobacterial Toxin Occurrence in Some Prairie Drinking Water Sources** submitted by **Sandra L. Kenefick** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Environmental Science**.

San 5. 3-Dr. S.E. Hrudey (Supervisor) 1. Asn. Dr. P.M. Huck Dr. G.R. Finch E C Pagas Dr. E.E. Prepas

Date: Amil 14, 1991

ABSTRACT

A number of lakes and agricultural dugouts in Alberta were surveyed to establish the prevalence of toxin producing cyanobacteria. Water bodies used as raw water supplies were selected for study because of their immediate relevance to human health. This study evaluated the relation between toxins and odorous compounds known to be produced by the cyanobacteria. Toxin release to the water phase from cyanobacterial cells, following treatment with copper sulfate and lime, was studied to evaluate the impact of algal control strategies. Hepatotoxin concentrations were analysed by high-performance liquid chromatography while neurotoxin concentrations were analysed by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry.

The hepatotoxin microcystin LR was detected in three lakes which serve as raw water sources for municipal water treatment plants. The neurotoxin anatoxin-a was not detected in these lakes. Neither microcystin LR, microcystin RR, nor anatoxin-a were detected in any of the agricultural dugouts surveyed.

Limited monitoring of the raw and treated water samples showed no detectable microcystin LR, except for one raw water sample at the detection limit. However, calculations to evaluate possible exposure scenarios suggest that estimated safe drinking water levels could be exceeded for the type of circumstances observed. No relationship was found between odour-causing agents and toxin production, indicating that odour was are a reliable indicator of cyanobacterial toxin presence.

Treatment of cyanobacterial blooms with copper sulfate was found to cause a rapid and potentially dangerous release of hepatotoxins to the water phase, but treatment with lime did not cause the same hazardous release of

iv

toxin. These findings are of importance in the management of drinking water sources which are vulnerable to cyanobacterial blooms.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My foremost thanks go to Dr. Steve E. Hrudey of the Department of Health Services Administration and Community Medicine for his guidance and support. I would also like to thank Dr. Ellie Prepas of the Department of Zoology and Dr. Hans Peterson of the Saskatchewan Research Council who provided valuable input into my research.

I would like to thank Dr. Wayne Carmichael of Wright State University in Dayton, Ohio for helpful discussions and for supplying standards of microcystin LR and RR. Dr. O. E. Edwards of Carlton University in Ottawa, Ontario generously supplied a synthetic sample of anatoxin-a and Dr. H. B. Hines of the U. S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases supplied a natural anatoxin-a sample. I would also like to thank Dr. Ming H. Chen for the Electron Microscopy work and Dr. William Ayer of the Department of Chemistry who kindly allowed the use of his freeze dryer.

Considerable thanks also go to: Brian Kotak for his assistance with sampling and bioassays, Mark Serediak and Warren Zyla for their sampling and laboratory work, Angeline Lam for identifying algal species, Gertie Hutchinson for phophorus determinations and Norine Motkosky for the trace organic analysis. Dr. Lois Browne of the Department of Chemistry, also offered very helpful guidance and support.

Special thanks go to Gary Kovacik for his patience, encouragement and understanding.

The financial support for this project was provided by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Background	1
	1.2 Scope of Project	
2.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
	 2.1 Cyanobacterial Toxins	6 7 14 15 16
	 2.2 Relevance of Toxins to Drinking Water Sources 2.2.1 Occurrence 2.2.2 Detection 2.2.2.1 Instrumental Analysis 2.2.2.2 Bioassay Methods 2.2.2.3 Biochemical Methods 2.2.2.4 Odour Correlation 2.2.3 Control and Treatment Methods 2.2.3.1 Bloom Control 2.2.3.2 Removal or Destruction by Water Treatment 	19 20 21 22 23 25 25
3.	RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	33
	3.1 Survey of Toxin Occurrence	33
	3.2 Evaluation of Odour for Detection of Toxin	33
	3.3 Evaluation of Toxin Release by Bloom Control Measures	33
4.	METHODS AND MATERIALS	34
	4.1 Field Procedures4.1.1 Sampling4.1.2 Odour Evaluation	34
	4.2 Sample Preparation	37
	4.3 Analysis	37

4.3.1 Hepatotoxins	
4.3.1 Hepatotoxins 4.3.2 Anatoxin-a	
4.3.2 Anatoxin-a 4.3.3 Odour Compounds	
4.3.4 Dissolved Organic Carbon	
4.3.4 Dissolved Organic Carbon 4.3.5 Phosphorus	
4.3.5 Phosphorus	
4.3.7 Dissolved Oxygen	
4.3.7 Dissolved Oxygen 4.3.8 pH	
4.3.9 Species Typing	
4.4.2 Hepatotoxin Isolation 4.4.3 Batch Toxin Release	56
4.4.3 Datch Toxin Release	60
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
5. RESULTS AND DESCENT	60
5.1 Batch Toxin Release Studies	
5.1.2 Analytical Toxin Recovery Evaluation	
(Des Motor Supplies	74
5.2 Evaluation of Raw Water Supplies 5.2.1 Weather Trends and Temperatures	74
5.2.2 Algal Species Distribution	79
5.2.2 Algal Species Distribution	
5.2.2 Algal Species Distribution 5.2.3 Hepatotoxin 5.1.3.1 Algal Biomass	
5.1.3.1 Algal Biomass 5.2.3.2 Water Treatment Plant Samples	91
5.2.3.2 Water Treatment Than Sumpression 5.2.3.3 Bioassay Confirmation	96
5.2.3.4 Mass Spectral Confirmation	96
5.2.3.4 Mass Spectral Communication	97
5.2.4 Anatoxin-a 5.2.5 Odour Analysis and Correlation	100
5.2.6 Evaluation of Significance	
5.2.6 Evaluation of Significance	
6. CONCLUSIONS	109
7. RECOMMENDATIONS	111
7. RECOMMENDATIONS	
8. REFERENCES	113
8.1 References Cited	
8.2 Additional Reterences	
APPEND!X	134
DECONTAMINATION AND DISPOSAL	
ANALYTICAL DATA	

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 2.1	Reported Toxins of Freshwater Cyanobacteria	8
Table 2.2	Documented Toxicity Data	17
Table 2.3	Reported Geosmin Producing Cyanobacteria	24
Table 2.4	Reported MIB Producing Cyanobacteria	24
Table 2.5	Toxin Removal Efficiencies of Various Water Treatment Processes	29
Table 5.1	Toxin Recovery After Copper Sulphate Treatment	73
Table 5.2	Toxin Recovery Based on Time of Extraction	73
Table 5.3	Paired Two-Tailed t-Test Values for Toxin Recovery Studies	73
Table 5.4	Water Treatment Plant Samples	92
Table 5.5	Coal Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)	101
Table 5.6	Driedmeat Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odear Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)	101
Table 5.7	Little Beaver Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)	102
Table 5.8	Other Lakes Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)	102
Table 5.9	Presence of Odour Agents (Detected by Chromatographic Sniffing) in Relation to Occurrence of Microcystin LR	103
Table A1	Control Batch Studies	136
Table A2	Copper Sulphate Batch Studies	137
Table A3	Lime Batch Studies	138
Table A4	Central Alberta Weather, Edmonton International Airport	139

Table A5	Camrose Area Weather and Driedmeat Lake Water Temperature	142
Table A6	Wetaskiwin Area Weather and Coal Lake Water Temperature	145
Table A7	Coal Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution	148
Table A8	Driedmeat Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution	148
Table A9	Little Beaver Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution	148
Table A10	Coal Lake Data	149
Table A11	Driedmeat Lake Data	150
Table A12	Little Beaver Lake Data	151

.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Lakes Studied4
Figure 1.2	Agricultural Dugouts Studied5
Figure 2.1	Chemical Structures of Amino Acids Common to Microcystin Toxin Structures9
Figure 2.2	Chemical Structures of Varying Amino Acids in Microcystin Toxin Structures10
Figure 2.3	Chemical Structure of Microcystin LR12
Figure 2.4	Chemical Structures of Anatoxins
Figure 4.1	Conical Net Used in Algal Sampling35
Figure 4.2	Chemical Structures of Target Odour Compounds
Figure 4.3	Chromatogram of <i>Microcystis aeruginosa</i> Toxin Standards Microcystin LR and Microcystin RR40
Figure 4.4	Microcystin LR Standard Curve41
Figure 4.5	Typical Chromatogram of Extract from a Natural Sample (Coal Lake August 22, 1990)42
Figure 4.6	Total Ion Mass Spectra of Acetylanatoxin-a46
Figure 4.7	Selected Ion Monitored Traces of Acetylanatoxin-a Standard47
Figure 4.8	Acetylanatoxin-a Standard Curve (acetylpiperidine as internal standard)48
Figure 4.9a	Predominant Cyanobacterial Species of Study Lakes Microcystis aeruginosa (Magnification 1000x)52
Figure 4.9b	Predominant Cyanobacterial Species of Study Lakes Anabaena flos-aquae (Magnification 400x)53
Figure 4.9c	Predominant Cyanobacterial Species of Study Lakes Aphanizomenon flos-aquae (Magnification 400x)54
Figure 4.10	Algal Bloom at Coal Lake August 199057
Figure 4.11	Batch Toxin Release Apparatus

Figure 5.1a	Batch Microcystin LR Release (Time 0)61
Figure 5.1b	Batch Microcystin LR Release (Time 1 Day)61
Figure 5.2	Batch Microcystin LR Release Trial #163
Figure 5.3	Batch Microcystin LR Release Trial #264
Figure 5.4	Batch Microcystin LR Release Trial #365
Figure 5.5	Untreated Microcystis aeruginosa cells. Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view
Figure 5.6	Microcystis aeruginosa cells treated with 75 mg/L Ca(OH) ₂ Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view
Figure 5.7	Microcystis aeruginosa cells treated with 0.010 mM CuSO ₄ Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view
Figure 5.8a	Interpretation of Batch Microcystin LR Release (Copper Sulfate) Trial #271
Figure 5.8b	Interpretation of Batch Microcystin LR Release (Copper Sulfate) Trial #371
Figure 5.9	 Central Alberta Weather (Edmonton International Airport) A. Daily High Air Temperature B. Daily Average Windspeed C. Daily Average Hours of Bright Sunshine
Figure 5.10	Daily High Air Temperature at Camrose and Surface Water Temperature in Driedmeat Lake77
Figure 5.11	Daily High Air Temperature at Wetaskiwin and Surface Water Temperature in Coal Lake78
Figure 5.12	Cyanobacterial Cell Distribution of Coal Lake80
Figure 5.13	Cyanobacterial Cell Distribution of Driedmeat Lake81
Figure 5.14	Cyanobacterial Cell Distribution of Little Beaver Lake82
Figure 5.15	Relative Distribution of <i>Microcystis</i> spp. and Microcystin LR for Coal Lake84

•

Figure 5.16	Relative Distribution of <i>Microcystis</i> spp. and Microcystin LR for Driedmeat Lake85	
Figure 5.17	Relative Distribution of <i>Microcystis</i> spp. and Microcystin LR for Little Beaver Lake Lake86	
Figure 5.18	 Coal Lake A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus B. Chlorophyll α Concentrations C. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N	
Figure 5.19	Driedmeat Lake A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus B. Chlorophyll α Concentrations C. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N	
Figure 5.20	Little Beaver Lake A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus B. Chlorophyll α Concentrations for Little Beaver Lake C. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N90	
Figure 5.21	Wetaskiwin Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet	
Figure 5.22	Camrose Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet94	
Figure 5.23	Ferintosh Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet	
Figure 5.24	Pseudomolecular Ion Region of FAB Spectra of Isolated Microcystin LR in Magic Bullet Matrix98	
Figure 5.25	Pseudomolecular Ion Region of FAB Spectra of Microcystin LR Standard in Magic Bullet Matrix99	
Figure A1	Positive Ion FAB Spectra of ïsolated Microcystin LR in Magic Bullet Matrix153	
Figure A2	Positive Ion FAB Spectra of Microcystin LR Standard in Magic Bullet Matrix154	

.

.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A	-L-alanine		
Aba	-amino isobutyric acid		
Adda	-3-amino-9-methoxy-10-phenyl-2,6,8-trimethyl-deca-4,6-dienoic acid		
ALT	-alanine aminotransferase		
AST	-aspartate aminotransferase		
D-Ala	-D-alanine		
D-Glu	-D-glutamic acid		
DOC	-dissolved organic carbon		
GC/MS	-gas chromatography using mass spectrometry as the method of detection		
F	-L-phenylalanine		
GAC	-granular activated carbon		
HPLC	-high-performance liquid chromatography		
IC	-inorganic carbon		
in vitro	-in laboratory cultures outside the organism		
in vivo	-within the organism		
I.P.	-intra-peritoneal: within the peritoneal cavity of the abdomen		
isoAsp	-β-methylaspartic acid		
L	-L-leucine		
LDH	-lactate dehydrogenase		
М	-L-methionine		
Masp	-erythro-β-methylaspartic acid		
Mdha	-N-methyldehydroalanine		
2-MIB	-2-methylisoborneol		

.

- PAC -powdered activated carbon
- R -L-arginine
- SEM -scanning electron microscopy
- TC -total carbon
- TEM -transmission electron microscopy
- TOC -total organic carbon
- Y -L-tyrosine

1. INTRODUCTION

This research was part of a preliminary study of the biogenic compounds produced by the freshwater cyanobacteria found in some lakes and reservoirs in Alberta. Water bodies used as drinking water supplies were selected for this project because of their immediate relevance to human health. Cyanobacteria is a scientific name for microorganisms which are commonly referred to as blue-green algae. There is an ongoing controversy among taxonomists as to whether they should be classified as bacteria or algae (Fay 1983). Although they are photosynthetic and contain photosynthetic pigments like algae, they do not have a defined nucleus, and are therefore classified as bacteria. Cyanobacteria are often referred to as blue-green algae in the literature and both terms will be used interchangeably in this document.

A number of cyanobacterial species are found in temperate inland waters with high concentrations of phosphorus and nitrogen. In addition, some cyanobacteria are able to fix atmospheric nitrogen and can dominate when inorganic nitrogen reserves have been depleted, as long as adequate phosphorus is present. A general trend toward an increase in nutrient concentrations in lakes due to anthropogenic eutrophication is likely continuing on the prairies (Carmichael 1988; Codd et al. 1989). Thus, an increasing prevalence of blue-green algae appears to be inevitable

1.1 Background

Cyanobacteria occur naturally throughout the year in many prairie lakes, but during warm, calm summer months the algal populations grow very rapidly and algal "blooms" can be seen. The water will appear green near the surface and a bluish green scum will wash up on the shore. In addition to being aesthetically displeasing, some cyanobacteria species produce hepatotoxic compounds which cause acute liver damage if the algae are ingested, while ingestion of species that produce neurotoxic compounds leads to a disruption of neuron transmission in the central nervous system.

Inadvertent consumption of poisonous algae by domestic livestock or pets is not always reported because it is not often understood that algal poisoning is a possible cause of animal deaths. Reported incidents of livestock poisonings caused by blue-green algal ingestion date back to the late 19th century (Francis 1878). Cyanobacteria have also been suspected in a number of cases of human illness over the last century (Schwimmer and Schwimmer 1968). Incidents have been documented in South Africa, Great Britain, Finland, Australia, and the United States, but research into the extent of problems in Canada has been minimal. Pioneering work by Dr. Paul Gorham and his student Dr. Wayne Carmichael made a major contribution to the understanding of toxic cyanobacteria in Canadian lakes.

The first Canadian report of livestock deaths due to cyanobacterial poisoning was from Alberta during the summer of 1917. Animal deaths were reported near Fort Saskatchewan, Lougheed and Lake Saskatoon (Schwimmer and Schwimmer 1968). There have been numerous algal poisonings reported in Canada since then, and most incidents occurred in prairie lakes or dugouts.

1.2 Scope of Project

This project involved the characterization of raw water samples collected from prairie lakes which are currently used as municipal drinking water supplies. A number of agricultural dugouts, which are used as water supplies by livestock and/or rural residents, were also sampled. The primary goal of the study was to identify the cyanobacteria present in some Alberta lakes and dugouts during the summer of 1990 and to analyse samples for some of the biogenic products of these algae. This included known bluegreen algal toxins, as well as a number of known odour causing agents, which are thought to be indicators of some cyanobacterial species.

Three central Alberta lakes were chosen for the survey. All three of these lakes serve as raw water supplies for communities which utilize conventional water treatment, prior to distribution. The water treatment plant that draws its raw water from Coal Lake (Figure 1.1) serves the City of Wetaskiwin, which has a population of just over 10,000 (Alberta Bureau of Statistics, 1990). Coal Lake has an estimated volume of 38.8 x 10⁶ m³ and is approximately 10.9 km² in area, with an average depth of 3.5 m (Mitchell and Prepas 1990). Driedmeat Lake (Figure 1.1) is the raw water source for the water treatment plant which serves Camrose, a city with a population of nearly 13,000 (Alberta Bureau of Statistics, 1990). Driedmeat U of Statistics, 1990). Driedmeat Lake has an estimated volume of 41.9 x 106 m³ and is approximately 16.5 km² in area, with an average depth of 2.2 m (Mitchell and Prepas 1990). The water treatment plant for the village of Ferintosh serves only approximately 125 people. The village draws its raw water from Little Beaver Lake which is approximately 0.75 km² in area, with an average depth of 2 m (Jackson 1991).

The agricultural dugouts which were sampled for this study are located throughout north-central Alberta (Figure 1.2). There were two dugouts sampled at the Helbig sight, one at the Pretzlaff location and five in the Peace River region. Each of the dugouts chosen for this study had detailed baseline limnological data and a limited history of past algicide treatments.

The project also involved a study of the effect of treatment of algal cells with calcium hydroxide and with copper sulfate, two chemicals used in the treatment of algal blooms. This secondary study focussed on the release of algal toxins to the water phase after treatment with the respective algicides.



Figure 1.1 Lakes Studied



Figure 1.2 Agricultural Dugouts Studied

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

There is a widespread misconception that naturally produced compounds are not as hazardous as those which are synthetic. Public and professional concern has emphasized the study of the environmental properties and toxicity of many synthetic compounds, but the research into natural product toxicities has received much less public and regulatory attention. Fortunately there has been substantial research concerning the toxins produced by various species of cyanobacteria.

2.1 Cyanobacterial Toxins

The first written report of an animal death due to blue-green algal toxin ingestion was by Francis in 1878. World-wide, there have been a significant number of reported animal deaths due to ingestion of water containing blue-green algal cells (Gentile 1970, Carmichael and Mahmood 1984, Carmichael and Schwartz 1984). Studies of such toxic events in Canadian waters are limited, although toxin producing cyanobacterial species are found throughout Canadian prairie lakes (Schwimmer and Schwimmer 1968).

2.1.1 Toxin Producing Cyanobacterial Species

There are a large number of cyanobacterial species, but not all of these species have been reported to produce toxins. The genera of the cyanobacteria which have been reported as toxin producers include, Anabaena (Gorham 1964), Microcystis (Botes et al. 1984), Aphanizomenon (Sasner 1981), Oscillatoria (Østensvik et al. 1981), Nodularia (Francis 1878), Lyngbya (Moore 1981), Synechocysitis (Carmichael 1982) and Coelospharium (Gorham 1964). Documented outbreaks of algal poisonings in Canadian prairie lakes have generally been limited to the Microcystis, Anabaena, and Aphanizomenon genera. The three species most commonly found in Alberta lakes include: Microcystis aeruginosa, which produces at least six hepatotoxins, Anabaena flos-aquae, which produces two hepatotoxins and two neurotoxins, and Aphanizomenon flos-aquae, which produces two neurotoxins. The toxins which can be produced by these species are listed in Table 2.1.

2.1.2 Chemical Structure of Freshwater Toxins Identified

The majority of cyanobacterial toxin research has concentrated on the hepatotoxins produced by Microcystis aeruginosa and Anabaena flos-aquae. Most of this work has been carried out over the last thirty years. The first reference to the toxin produced by M. aeruginosa was in the late 1950's when the compound responsible for what was referred to as the fast death factor (FDF) was isolated from a laboratory culture of M. aeruginosa (Bishop et al. 1959). Botes et al. (1982) and Santikarn et al. (1983) were the first to determine some specific structural details of the hepatotoxins, with Botes et al. (1985) concluding that they are cyclic heptapeptides. These peptides have molecular weights of approximately 1000 and have five common amino acids (Figure 2.1) which include three D-amino acids; alanine (D-Ala), erythro- β methylaspartic acid (Masp), and glutamic acid(D-Glu), as well as Nmethyldehydroalanine (Mdha) and a nonpolar side chain of 20 carbons (3amino-9-methoxy-10-phenyl-2,6,8-trimethyl-deca-4,6-dienoic acid) (Adda). Each peptide also has two L-amino acids which vary with each toxin. The most common toxins have L-amino acid combinations of tyrosine, arginine, methionine, leucine or alanine (Figure 2.2). The documented combinations

7

Table 2.1 Reported Toxins of Freshwater Cyanobacteria

Organism	Toxin Term Used	Structural Class
Microcystis aeruginosa		
	microcystin LR ¹	peptide
	microcystin YR ¹	peptide
	microcystin LA ¹	peptide
	microcystin YA ¹	peptide
	microcystin YM ¹	peptide
	microcystin RR ²	peptide
	microcystin FR ³	peptide
	microcystin Laba ³	peptide
	microcystin LR(isoAsp) ¹	peptide
Aphanizomenon flos-a	quae	
	saxitoxin ¹	alkaloid
	(aphantoxin II)	
	neosaxitoxin ¹	alkaloid
	(aphantoxin I)	
Anabaena flos-aquae		
	anatoxin-a ¹	alkaloid
	anatoxin-a(s) ¹	unknown
	microcystin LR ¹	peptide
	microcystin LR(isoAsp) ¹	• •
(the above information	was adapted from the foll	owing sources.)

(the above information was adapted from the following sources:)

1. Carmichael 1988

2. Harada et al. 1988

3. Gathercole and Thiel 1987





3-amino-9-methoxy-10-phenyl-2,6,8-trimethyl-deca-4,6-dienoic acid

Unique Amino Acids

Figure 2.1 Chemical Structures of Amino Acids Common to Microcystin Toxin Structures







include: leucine-alanine (microcystin LA), leucine-arginine (microcystin LR), tyrosine-arginine (microcystin YR), tyrosine-alanine (microcystin YA) and tyrosine-methionine (microcystin YM). The basic microcystin structure is:

where I and II are the variable L-amino acids. Figure 2.3 illustrates the complete structure of microcystin LR. Another hepatotoxin produced by both *Microcystis aeruginosa* and *Anabaena flos-aquae* has the leucine-arginine combination but has aspartic acid instead of β -methylaspartic acid (microcystin LR(isoAsp)) (Carmichael 1988). Work by Gathercole and Theil (1987) suggested two further combinations; microcystin FR (phenylalanine and arginine) and microcystin LAba (leucine and amino isobutyric acid). Another hepatotoxin isolated by Harada et al. (1988), contained two arginine L-amino acids (microcystin RR).

There have been two groups of neurotoxins isolated from freshwater cyanobacteria. These include the anatoxins which are produced by *Anabaena flos-aquae*, and the saxitoxins produced by *Apanizomenon flos-aquae*. Six toxins were originally thought to have been isolated from cultures of the *Anabaena* species (Carmichael and Gorham 1978), although only two toxins have been studied in detail since then.

Anatoxin-à is an alkaloid produced by *Anabaena flos-aquae* and was the first anatoxin to be chemically defined. It is a potent depolarizing neuromuscular blocking agent (Devlin et al. 1977; Carmichael et al. 1979).The IUPAC name for anatoxin-a is 1-9-azabicyclo [4.2.1] non-2-en-2-yl-ethanone and the structure is shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.3 Chemical Structure of Microcystin LR



Structure of anatoxin-a



Structure of anatoxin-a(s)

Figure 2.4 Chemical Structures of Anatoxins

The second well documented *Anabaena* toxin is anatoxin-a(s), which was given the additional "(s)" designation because test animals salivated when exposed to the toxin (Carmichael and Gorham 1978). Matsunaga et al. (1989) reported that anatoxin-a(s) is a unique phosphate ester of a cyclic Nhydroxyguanidine (Figure 2.4). The anatoxin-a(s) toxicity is attributed to exceptional anticholinesterase activity (Mahmood and Carmichael 1986b).

The neurotoxins which are produced by *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* have been shown to behave chemically and physically similar to the well documented paralytic shellfish poisons, saxitoxin and neosaxitoxin but the structures are not fully documented (Mahmood and Carmichael 1986a).

2.1.3 Toxic Effects

Documented cases of animal deaths due to cyanobacterial toxins date back to the late 1800's and the documented cases of adverse effects on human health caused by cyanobacterial toxins go back more than 60 years. Researchers have studied the acute effects of the toxins in detail, but the chronic effect of the toxins has received relatively limited attention. Acute effects are the primary concern when studying neurotoxins, but in the case of hepatotoxins, acute effects as well as chronic exposure effects must be considered.

There are apparently no documented and reported cases of human death due to cyanobacterial poisoning (Gorham and Carmichael 1988), although experiences in many parts of the developing world may not be fully documented. However, humans do not intentionally ingest the algal biomass which will normally contain the largest portion of any toxin present. Likewise, humans will generally be reluctant to consume water from a source which is experiencing a heavy bloom. There have been a number of cases of human illness due to unintentional ingestion of small amounts of water contaminated with toxic algal cells or continuous ingestion of water with very low levels of dissolved algal toxins. Detailed descriptions of cases of human gastroenteritis after the ingestion of *Anabaena*, *Microcystis* and/or *Aphanizomenon* spp. were documented by Dillenby and Dehnel in 1960. The illnesses were reported in Saskatchewan during the summer of 1959, by people who had been swimming or had fallen into Gull Lake, Echo Lake or Long Lake. Researchers in England recorded cases of pneumonia which occurred after swallowing water which contained toxic *Microcystis aeruginosa* (Turner et al. 1990). There have also been cases of contact irritations or dermatitis reported after swimming in waters containing toxic blue-green algal cells or released toxins (Billings 1981). Other cases of human illness after exposure to or ingestion of blue-green algal toxins have been reported but few details were provided (Bourke and Hawkes 1983).

2.1.3.1 Hepatotoxins

In documented animal poisoning cases, injection or ingestion of algal cells which have produced the polypeptide hepatotoxins, results in hemorrhagic necrosis of the liver. At lethal doses, death occurs within 1 to 2 hours. The actual cause of death is haemorrhagic shock, caused by a pooling of blood in the liver, resulting from destruction of the endothelial lining of the liver sinusoids and disintegration of hepatocyte membranes (Falconer et al. 1981). At sublethal doses, dermal irritation and gastrointestinal, neuromuscular, respiratory or cardiovascular problems may occur.

Falconer et al. (1983a) reported evidence of chronic liver damage in residents of an Australian community whose drinking water supply was severely contaminated with toxic cyanobacteria. They concluded that the hepatotoxins produced by the algae cause elevated amounts of the hepatic enzyme gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase in the plasma of the residents. An outbreak of severe hepatoenteritis, attributed to cyanobacterial toxin, was reported for another Australian community (Hawkins et al. 1985).

2.1.3.2 Neurotoxins

Anatoxin-a is a potent neuromuscular blocking agent similar to acetylcholine. The neurotoxin possesses both muscarinic and nicotinic activity. Muscarinic action can result in the paralysis of the peripheral skeletal muscles, while nicotinic action leads to paralysis of the respiratory muscles. Injection or ingestion of algal cells containing lethal doses of the alkaloid neurotoxin results in death due to respiratory arrest within 15 minutes to 2 hours (Carmichael et al. 1975). Anatoxin-a(s) is a more potent toxin and has different pharmacological properties than those of anatoxin-a. Anatoxin-a(s) is an anticholinesterase which causes symptoms of intoxication that are due to reduced cholinesterase activity and an increase in free acetylcholine in the brain (Mahmood and Carmichael 1986b). The overall effect produces symptoms similar to those caused by anatoxin-a and death is again due to respiratory arrest.

Acute toxicity data for hepatotoxins and neurotoxins which could be found in prairie lakes are summarized in Table 2.2.

2.1.4 Environmental Properties of Toxins

Knowledge of the environmental properties of the cyanobacterial toxins is extremely limited. The polypeptide toxins produced by *Microcystis* aeruginosa and Anabaena flos-aquae have been reported to have limited persistence in the aquatic environment (Carmichael and Gorham 1981).

Table 2.2 Documented Toxicity Data

Hepatotoxins

In vivo microcystin LR: LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 50 μg/kg¹ In vivo microcystin RR: LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 600 μg/kg¹ In vitro Ames mutagenicity test: negative² In vitro multigene sporulation assay: negative² In vitro chromatid breakage in human lymphocytes: positive²

Neurotoxins

In vivo anatoxin-a: LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 200 μg/kg¹ In vivo anatoxin-a(s): LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 50 μg/kg¹ In vivo aphantoxin I: LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 10 μg/kg¹ In vivo aphantoxin II: LD50 (i.p.* mouse) 10 μg/kg¹

intraperitoneally

(the above information was adapted from the following sources:) 1. Carmichael 1988.

2. Repavich et al. 1990.

Degradation of the polypeptide compounds may occur through hydrolysis, photolysis or biodegradation, but these patterns are not well documented.

Berg et al. (1987) studied the degradation of the microcystin toxins in a batch study using 40 g of cells collected from a lake in Wisconsin. Toxicity of the water phase after release of toxin from the algal cells was monitored over a period of 40 days. Work into the stability of the purified microcystin LR has been reported by the United States Army (Wannemacher 1989). In these studies, microcystin LR was resistant to acidic conditions, alkaline conditions and heat up to $300 \,^{\circ}$ C.

2.2 Relevance of Toxins to Drinking Water Sources

Many communities in western Canada depend on freshwater lakes for their raw water supply. During the summer months many of these lakes develop algal blooms. The three study lakes: Coal Lake which serves the City of Wetaskiwin, Driedmeat Lake which serves the City of Camrose and Little Beaver Lake which serves the Village of Ferintosh, all had dense algal blooms during the summer of 1990. Other communities on the prairies often have to deal with similar problems: Moose Lake is the raw water source for the town of Bonnyville, Skeleton Lake for Boyle, Bonnie Lake for Vilna, Buffalo Pound for both Regina and Moose Jaw, Killarny Lake for Killarny, and Lake Minnewasta for Morden.

There are also a large number of prairie farms which depend on dugouts for all or a portion of their domestic water supplies. In 1988 alone, 11,000 farm dugouts were constructed with the assistance of Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration and 24% of these were used for domestic water supplies (Lien, PFRA 1990). Many of these dugouts have periodic water quality problems because of poor binding of the essential nutrient phosphorus in the bottom sediments (Recy and Deepas 1984) and nutrient loading from runoff which may be contaminated with fertilizers and animal wastes (Codd et al. 1989).

Blue-green algal blooms are a naturally occurring phenomenon in lakes on the Canadian prairies. These blooms may be accelerated due to land clearing, application of fertilizers, poor waste disposal procedures and urbanization (Skulberg et al. 1984; Codd et al. 1989; Carmichael 1988). As a consequence, toxic algal blooms may become more frequent and many more drinking water supplies may be affected.

2.2.1 Occurrence

The precise conditions which will support the rapid growth of a toxic bloom are not completely understood, but certain conditions favour bloom formation. These include: moderate to high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus; water temperatures between 15° and 30°C; calm or stagnant water; and a pH between 6 and 10 (Skulberg et al. 1984).

The incidence of toxic populations of cyanobacteria in Alberta are widespread, but most cases have not been well documented. The unpredictable occurrence and the variable persistence of the toxic blooms has been a significant handicap for researchers. The greatest contribution to the study of such events on the Canadian prairies was by Paul Gorham during the sixties and seventies. He studied toxic algal blooms in Alberta which include those found at Hastings Lake (Gorham 1964), Disney Lake, Beaverhill Lake (Carmichael and Gorham 1978), Upper Mann Lake, Floating Stone Lake, Smoky Lake, Matchayaw Lake and Lac La Nonne (Gorham et al. 1982).
2.2.2 Detection

Early studies into the cyanobacterial toxins relied on the mouse bioassay as an indicator of the relative toxin levels in samples collected or cultured (Gorham 1960; Gorham et al. 1964). The mouse bioassays were found to be so time consuming and expensive that researchers attempted to develop biochemical assays to monitor the presence of the toxins. Eventually, chemical assay methods were developed for use after initial mouse bioassay screening. Current methods of detection rely on advanced analytical techniques such as high performance liquid chromatography and gas chromatography/mass spectrometry.

2.2.2.1 Instrumental Analysis

Several HPLC methods for the separation of microcystins have been developed and each was designed for use after an initial extraction and cleanup procedure. Harada et al. (1988) outline a procedure which begins with the extraction of the lyophilized cells with 5% acetic acid for 30 min, repeated three times. After centrifugation at 9300g the supernatant is passed through a disposable C18 solid phase extraction cartridge and washed with water and water : methanol (2:8, v:v). The toxins are eluted with methanol and the mixture obtained is evaporated to dryness. HPLC separations of the toxins can be accomplished under reverse-phase isocratic conditions with a C18 column and a mobile phase of methanol : 0.05% trifluoroacetic acid (6:4). The flow rate should be 1 mL/min and UV absorbance (at 238 nm) is used as the detector. An eluent of acetonitrile : 0.01 M ammonium acetate (26:74) is also commonly used (Gathercole and Thiel 1987). Another HPLC method utilizes acetonitrile : 0.10 M potassium dihydrogenphosphate (12:88) with a recently developed internal surface reversed phase column (ISRP) manufactured by Regis Pinkerton (Meriluto and Eriksson 1988). Pure samples of each toxin (generally isolated and purified from well characterized strains of cyanobacteria) are used as standards for the retention time of each toxin.

Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) methods have recently been developed for the rapid analysis of anatoxin-a (Smith and Lewis 1987). The sensitivity of the GC/MS method is greatly improved when the anatoxin-a is derivatized prior to analysis (Ross et al. 1989). The acetyl derivative of the neurotoxin is formed more easily and reliably than other common derivatives such as the t-butyldimethylsilyl form (Himberg 1989). A number of other analytical methods for the determination of anatoxin-a levels have also been reported. Stevens and Krieger (1988) developed a gas chromatography procedure which utilized the trichloroacetyl derivative of anatoxin-a and electron capture detection. HPLC methods have also been developed to detect anatoxin-a with both normal phase (Wong and Hindin 1982) and reverse phase separations (Astrachan and Archer 1981).

2.2.2.2 Bioassay Methods

The most widely used bioassay method utilizes rats or mice injected intravenously or intraperitoneally with acutely toxic doses of cyanobacteria cells extracts (Krishnamurthy et al. 1986). The animals die within 1 to 3 hours when hepatotoxins have been injected. Death can occur within minutes if the animals have been injected with neurotoxins (Carmichael and Gorham 1978).

Theiss et al. (1988) reported that the immediate cause of death of mice injected with microcystin LR was a loss of hepatic architecture and necrosis. This damage results in a pooling of blood in the liver and a corresponding increase in liver mass. Falconer et al. (1981) also reported an increase in liver mass as well as an increase in serum enzymes after treatment with microcystin toxin. Hermansky et al. (1990) demonstrated that there was a 45% increase in liver weight 60 min after treatment with a suspension having a concentration of 100 μ g/L of microcystin LR. They also studied the serum enzyme activities of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotranferase (ALT). In these assays they found that increases in all three enzymes were statistically significant 45 minutes after treatment with a 100 μ g/L suspension of microcystin LR.

2.2.2.3 Biochemical Methods

In a study by Carmichael and Bent (1981) the toxic extracts from algal blooms of *Microcystis aeruginosa* and *Anabaena flos-aquae* agglutinated red blood cells. Agglutination determination consists of: (i) washing lyophilized cyanobacteria cells with physiological saline (0.9% NaCl), (ii) centrifuging the suspension and then mixing portions of the cell-free supernatant with equal volumes of saline-washed erythrocytes in V-shaped microtiter plates, (iii) allowing the mixture to stand for 3 to 4 h and (iv) scoring the presence of toxins as indicated by blood cell agglutination. However durnegar and Falconer (1982) reported no red blood cell agglutination with extracts of a strain of *M. aeruginosa* from Australia. This particular strain was shown to contain only two toxins and beth contained the leucine-arginine (LR) combination of L-amino acids. The strains used by Carmichael and Bent were collected in central Alberta and although the toxins present were not identified, they may have differed from those in the Australian strain.

2.2.2.4 Odour Correlation

There are a number of genera of cyanobacteria which are known to produce extremely odorous compounds. These include *Microcystis*, *Anabaena* and *Aphanizomenon* (Palmer 1980). Compounds identified as being produced by these cyanobacteria include geosmin, 2-methylisoborneol (2-MIB), sesquiterpenes, β -cyclocitral, isoamyl alcohol and 6-methyl-5-hepten-2-one (Hayes and Burch 1989).

Waters containing blue-green algal blooms seldom contain only one species of the algae and therefore the odorous compounds with the lowest odour threshold will often mask the odour of other volatile compounds which are present. The most potent, commonly found odorous compounds are geosmin with an odour threshold concentration of 4-20 ng/L and 2-MIB with an odour threshold concentration of 7-20 ng/L (Mallevialle and Suffet 1987; Persson 1980). The odour of compounds such as geosmin and 2-MIB have been associated with the presence of cyanobacteria (Izaguirre et al. 1982; Tabachek and Yurkowski 1976) and correlations between the presence of these compounds and populations of cyanobacteria have been developed (Cees et al. 1974; Rizet and Mouchet 1982). Cyanobacteria reported to produce geosmin and 2-MIB are listed in Tables 2.3 and 2.4.

Microcystis spp. are reported to produce odour causing agents such as β -cyclocitral, isoamyl alcohol, hexanol, 6-methyl-5-hepten-2-one and phenyl ethanol (Hayes and Burch, 1989). Jüttner (1988) reported that Microcystic is characterized by an ability to produce large quantities of β -cyclocitral, which has a threshold odour concentration of 19 µg/L (Persson and Jüttner 1983). Herrman and Jüttner (1977) also reported the isolation of 2-aminopropane from waters containing Microcystis spp. Jenkins et al. (1967) found that Microcystis flos-aquae also produced isopropyl mercaptan (sulfur odour).

Genus	Species	Reference (adapted from)
Anabaena	macrospora	Ashitani et al. 1988
	flos-aquae	Hayes and Burch 1989
	scheremetievi	Izaguirre et al. 1982
	circinalis	Persson 1983
	species	Slater and Blok 1983
Aphanizonmenon	flos-aquae	Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988
1	gracile	Jüttner et al. 1986
	species	Slater and Blok 1983
Lyngbya	cestuarii	Tabachek and Yurkowski 1976
Öscillatoria	brevis	Berglind et al. 1983
	agardhii	Berglind et al. 1983
	bornetii	Berglind et al. 1983
	ten s	Medsker et 🗈 1968
	simplicissima	Izaguirre et al. 1982
	amoena	Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988
	splendida	Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988
	cortiana	Persson 1983
ļ	prolifica	Persson 1983
	variablilis	Persson 1983
	species	Matsurnoto and Tsuchiya 1988
Phormidium	tenue	Ashitani et al. 1988
	species	Berglind et al. 1983
Symploca	muscorum	Medsker et al. 1968
Schizothrix	muelleri	Persson 1983

 Table 2.3 Reported Geosmin Producing Cyanobacteria

 Table 2.4
 Reported MIB Producing Cyanobacteria

Genus	Species	Reference (adapted from)
Lyngbya Oscillatoria Phormidium	cryptovaginata curviceps tenuis brevis geminata limntica species species	Persson 1983 Izaguirre et al. 1983 Izaguirre et al. 1982 Berglind et al. 1983 Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988 Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988 Matsumoto and Tsuchiya 1988 Berglind et al. 1983

2.2.3 Control and Treatment Methods

Summer months on the prairies are ideal for the growth of cyanobacteria and often they outcompete all other species of algae. Prevention of algal blooms may be possible with nutrient control and proper reservoir management. When prevention has not been possible, an algal bloom results in water quality deterioration and treatment for removal of the algae becomes critical.

2.2.3.1 Bloom Control

Copper sulfate has been used extensively for the control of algal blooms since 1905 (McKnight et al. 1983). In Alberta, the recommended copper sulfate treatment concentration for farm dugouts which have algal blooms, is 50-100 μ g/L Cu (Alberta Agriculture 1989). Much higher concentrations were previously used in many areas, although the lower concentrations are now known to be effective (Whitaker et al. 1978). Copper sulfate can be an effective agent for short-term control of blue-green algal species, but there are a number of problems related to its use in the treatment of algal blooms (Hanson and Stefan 1984). Blue-green algae often develop into more resistant strains with long-term copper sulfate treatment. In addition to this the shortterm usage is not always reliable for all algal species and the treatment does not attack the cause of the problem (nutrients), but instead treats a symptom. It has also been reported that the use of higher than recommended concentrations of copper sulfate can kill the zooplankton which graze on some species of algae and result in increased algal levels (Peterson and Swanson 1988). Another problem associated with the copper sulfate treatment, is the possible release of cyanobacterial toxins to the water phase as the cells die (Berg et al. 1987). The copper sulfate does not reduce the toxicity of these compounds and natural detoxification through biodegradation may take up to 40 days.

An alternate treatment method currently being studied involves the application of calcium carbonate or calcium hydroxide (Prepas et al. 1990). Calcium hydroxide treatment has been shown to slightly reduce the levels of chlorophyll α (which is an indicator of the algal biomass) during the summer of treatment, and can result in substantial decreases in chlorophyll α levels in subsequent years. This is thought to be due to a long term decrease in the total phosphorus (Murphy et al. 1990). This method of treatment controls the nutrient supply instead of killing the algal cells. Consequently, subsequent algal blooms should not occur, and a sudden, uncontrolled release of toxic compounds to the water would not be expected.

2.2.3.2 Removal or Destruction by Water Treatment

Prolific algal growth in fresh waters causes further difficulties for drinking water treatment facilities. Rapid algal growth can result in aesthetically unacceptable water due to colour, turbidity, or odour problems. Algal cells can also lead to filter clogging problems, increased disinfectant demands and the presence of cyanobacterial toxins.

The basic coagulation-filtration-chlorination treatment process was shown to be ineffective in the removal of the toxins (Hoffman 1976). In this study, toxin concentrations of 10 mg/L were used to determine the removal efficiencies of a series of water treatment processes. Mouse bioassays were used to determine the amount of toxin remaining in the w er after each stage of treatment. Tests after prechlorination, lime addi , flocculation and sedimentation, sand filtration and postchlorination indicated that toxins were not removed by any of these processes. But, adsorption with granular activated carbon (GAC) or a 100 mg/L dose of powdered activated carbon (PAC) was effective in removing the toxin.

Falconer et al. (1983b and 1989) also found that activated carbon adsorption was effective in toxin removal, using either PAC addition or GAC filtration. A number of brands of PAC and GAC were tested for the removal of hepatotoxins and neurotoxins in both laboratory and pilot plant studies. They also reported that desorption of the toxins was not detected under laboratory conditions designed to promote toxin release from the GAC filters. More detailed study into the various treatment alternatives was performed in Finland (Keijola et al. 1988; Himberg et al. 1989). In these studies, both laboratory and pilot scale experiments were carried out to study the effect of flocculation, coagulation and slow sand filtration, as well as combined processes such powdered activated carbon addition before flocculation, activated carbon filtration and flocculation, chlorination after flocculation, and ozonation before flocculation. HPLC and GC/MS methods were used to monitor the toxin removal efficiencies.

In the laboratory scale experiments (Himberg et al. 1989), GAC after flocculation completely removed the hepatotoxins being monitored and removed 94% of anatoxin-a. Ozonation (1 mg/L) prior to flocculation also completely removed the hepatotoxins and removed 96% of the anatoxin-a. In pilot plant investigations using fresh *Microcystis aeruginosa* bloom material (Keijola et al. 1988), PAC (20 mg/L) proved to be effective in removing 99% of the hepatotoxin being monitored. An ozone dose of 1 mg/L was sufficient to remove 90% of the hepatotoxin. A second pilot plant experiment using freeze dried material corresponded to a situation where a bloom had been treated with CuSO4 or had collapsed due to old age, whereupon the toxin was readily released to the water phase. Preozonation removed only 50% of the hepatotoxin, while 20 mg/L of PAC removed 90% of the toxin. PAC doses of 100 mg/L and 200 mg/L completely removed the toxin when fresh or freeze-dried bloom material was used. Such PAC dosages would be impractical at most water treatment plants.

The reported toxin removal efficiencies of the various water treatment processes are summarized in Table 2.5.

	Durante Contente	Toxin Removal Efficiency	Comments	Reference (adapted from)
Study 1ype	LINCES OCTORING		Pure (unspecified) toxin added to water Hoffman 1976	Hoffman 1976
Laboratory		gualitative only	toxins monitored by mouse bioassay	
	A 1) GAC filtration	removed (no death)	GAC type:	
_			Pittsburgh Filtrasorb 3000	
	B 1) chlorination	not removed (death)	CaOCI dose 5 mg/L	
	2) FeCl3 flocculation		FeCl3 dose 20 mg/L	
	3) sedimentation	not removed (death)		
	4) sand filtration	not removed (death)		
	5) GAC filtration	removed (no death)		
	C 1) lime addition	not removed (death)	lime dose 50 mg/L	
	2) FeCl3 flocculation		FeCl3 dose 20 mg/L	
	3) sedimentation	not removed (death)		
	4) sand filtration	not removed (death)		
	5) chlorination	not removed (death)	CaOCI dose 5 mg/L	
	6) GAC filtration	removed (no death)		
	D 1) PAC addition			
	(10mg/mg toxin)	not removed (death)	Darco Grad Kb	
	2) PAC addition	-		
	(100 mg/mg toxin)	removed (no death)	Correct anotherworked colle	Ealmner et al 1989
Laboratory			treeze-dried cyanopacterial cells	
•			toxins monitored by mouse bloassay	
	A 1) GAC filtration	100% neurotoxin	AC types listed in order of decreasing	
	l neurotoxin trials		removal efficiency	
			1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra	
			2. Calgon Filtrasorb 200	
			3. Calgon Filtrasorb 100	
			4. Taiko CW 820A	
			5. Kintal 6, 16J	
				Continued

Treatment Processes.
arious Water
al Efficiencies of V
n Removal E
Table 2.5 Toxi

B 1) GAC filtration 100% hepatotoxin (hepatotoxin trials) 100% hepatotoxin (hepatotoxin trials) 100% neurotoxin A 1) PAC addition 100% neurotoxin (neurotoxin trials) 100% neurotoxin 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin B 1) PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 2) rapid sand filtration 100% neurotoxin 2) rapid sand filtration 100% neurotoxin	Study Type	Pmceas Sequence	Toxin Removal Efficiency	Comments	Reference (adapted from)
(hepatotoxin trials) 2. Darco granular (hepatotoxin trials) 3. Calgon Fitrasorb 200 (hepatotoxin trials) 4. Noris RCN '0.8 Supra 5. Noris PK1-3 5. Taiko CW '120 6. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200 8. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200 9. Noris PK1-3 6. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200 8. Taiko CW 820A 9. Kimals (J) 9. Noris PK1-3 9. Pack 90 mg/L 10. Taiko CW 800 10. Taiko CW 800 10. An Inforculation 100% neurotoxin 10. Taiko CW 800 10. Taiko CW 800 10. Taiko CW 800 1. Darco HDB 10. An Inforculation 100% neurotoxin 10. An Information 100% neurotoxin 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SCM 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SCM <td>l aboratory</td> <td>B 1) GAC filtration</td> <td>100% hepatotoxin</td> <td>1. Calgon Filtrasorb 100</td> <td>Falconer et al. 1989</td>	l aboratory	B 1) GAC filtration	100% hepatotoxin	1. Calgon Filtrasorb 100	Falconer et al. 1989
3. Calgon Filtrasorb 200 4. Norit RCN '0.8 Supra 5. Norit RCN' 0.8 Supra 5. Norit RCN' 0.8 Supra 5. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 201 7. Taiko CW 201 7. Taiko CW 201 7. Taiko CW 201 8. Taiko CW 201 7. Taiko CW 201 9. Kintal 6, 15 10. Taiko CW 201 10. Taiko CW 201 11. Taiko CW 201 10. Taiko CW 201 2. Jaium flocculation 10. Taiko CW 201 2. Jaium flocculation 10. C 1) GAC filtration 1. Ordi ROW 0.8 Supra 2. Lai		(hepatotoxin trials)	-	2. Darco granular	
4. Norit RCW 0.8 Supra 5. Norit RK1-3 5. Norit RK1-3 6. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 2008 9. Kinal 6, 15] 10. Taiko CW 2008 9. Kinal 6, 16] 10. Taiko CW 2008 9. Kinal 6, 15] 10. Taiko CW 2008 11. Morit SA5 12. Tapid and fitration 12. Tapid and				3. Calgon Filtrasorb 200	
5. Norit PK1-3 5. Norit PK1-3 6. Taiko CW 200 7. Taiko CW 200B 9. Kinals (JS) 9. Kinals (JS) 10. Taiko CW 820A 9. Kinals (JS) 10. Taiko CW 820A 10. Taiko CW 820A 11. PAC addition 10. Taiko CW 820A 12. alum flocculation 10. Taiko CW 820A 13. PAC addition 10. Taiko CW 820A 14. (neurotoxin trials) 10. Taiko CW 820A 15. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. Parco HDB 2. Norit SA5 11. Dano HDB 2. Norit SA5 12. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. Parco HDB 2. Norit SA5 11. Dano HDB 2. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. C 1) GAC filtration 100% neurotoxin 11. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 2. rapid and filtration 100% neurotoxin 2. rapid and filtration 100% neurotoxin 2. rapid and filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. rapid and filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. rapid and filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 3. rapid and filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra				4. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra	
6. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 120 7. Taiko CW 2018 8. Taiko CW 820B 9. Kinal 6, 16 10. Taiko CW 820B 9. Kinal 6, 16 10. Taiko CW 820B 10. Taiko CW 820B 9. Kinal 6, 16 10. Taiko CW 820A 10. Taiko CW 820B 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 1) PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10 0. Norti SA5 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 2. alum flocculation 1. Norti SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 3. alum flocculation 1. Norti SA5 2. alum flocculation 1. Norti SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 3. alum floculation 1. Norti SA5 2. alum floculation 2. Calgon GW 3. and filtration 1. Norti SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon Flue 3.				5. Norit PK1-3	
7. Taiko CW 120 (used) 8. Taiko CW 200B 9. Kinal 6, 15] 10. Taiko CW 820B 9. Kinal 6, 15] 10. Taiko CW 820B 10. Taiko CW 820B 2. alum flocculation 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 100% ne				6. Taiko CW 120	
8. Taiko Cw 820B 9. Kintal 6, 16] 9. Kintal 6, 16] 9. Kintal 6, 16] 10. Taiko Cw 820B 9. Kintal 6, 15] 2 alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 11. PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 12. Jaum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 13. PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 14. (neurotoxin trials) 2. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SA5 3. Daroo HDB 2. Calgon GW 6. 1) GAC filtration 1. Norit SA5 7. 1) GAC filtration 1. Norit SA5 7. 1) GAC filtration 1. Norit SA5 2. Taipid and filtration 2. Calgon GW 3. Taipid and filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. Taipid sand filtration 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. Sand only 3. sand only				7. Taiko CW 120 (used)	
9. Kintal 6, 15 10. Taiko CW 820A 10. Taiko CW 820A 10. Taiko CW 820A 10. Taiko CW 820A 11. Taiko CW 820A 12. alum flocculation 13. polyelectrolyte 10. Taiko CW 820A 2. alum flocculation 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 10. Taiko CW 820A 2. alum flocculation 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 10. Taiko CW 820A 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. Darco HDB 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 1. Darco HDB 2. alum flocculation 1. Ortit SA5 3. alum flocculation 1. Ortit SA5 3. alum flocculation 1. Ortit SA5 2. alum flocculation 1. Ortit SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. algon GW 3. proto HDB C 1) GAC filtration 1. Norit SA5 2. rapid and filtration 2. rapid and filtration 2. rapid and filtration 2. rapid and filtration 3. and only 3. and only				8. Taiko Cw 820B	
10. Taiko CW 820A 11. PAC addition 10. Taiko CW 820A A 1) PAC addition freeze-dried cyanobacterial cells toxins monitored by mouse bioassay PAC 80 mg/L 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 10. Taiko CW 820A alum dose 30 mg/L 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 10. Taiko CW 820 mg/L alum dose 30 mg/L 10. Taiko CM 1. Darco HDB 2. Norti SA5 2. Norti SA5 3. calgon GW 9. Calgon GW 2. alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 2. alum flocculation 3. Darco HDB 2. Tapid sand filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. rapid sand filtration 2. calgon Filtrasorb 100				9. Kintal 6, 15J	
A 1) PAC addition freeze-dried cyanobacterial cells toxins monitored by mouse bioassay PAC 80 mg/L A 1) PAC addition (neurotoxin trials) 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 9) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 9) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 100% neurotoxin 1. Darco HDB 2) alum flocculation 1. Dors 6.0 mg/L 1. neurotoxin trials) 1. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 3. neutotoxin 3. Darco HDB 2. rapid sand filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. rapid sand filtration 3. sand only				10. Taiko CW 820A	
A 1) PAC addition toxins monitored by mouse bioassay (reurotoxin trials) 2) alum flocculation 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 1) PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 3) polyelectrolyte 100% neurotoxin 1) PAC addition 100% neurotoxin 1) PAC addition 1. Darco HDB 2) alum flocculation 1. Darco HDB 2) alum flocculation 1. Darco HDB 2) alum flocculation 1. Darco HDB 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW 2. alum flocculation 1. Darco HDB 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SA5 3. alum flocculation 1. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 1. Norit SA5 2. alum flocculation 2. Calgon GW 3. and filtration 3. Darco HDB 2. rapid sand filtration 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. rapid sand filtration 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only 3. sand only	Pilot Plant			freeze-dried cyanobacterial cells	Falconer et al. 1989
PAC 80 mg/L uls) PAC 80 mg/L ion 100% neurotoxin polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L 1. Darco HDB 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW PAC 80 mg/L 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit SA5 3. Darco HDB n 1. Norit SA5 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB n 1. Norit RA5 1. Norit RA5 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only				toxins monitored by mouse bioassay	
uls) ion 100% neurotoxin polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L 100% neurotoxin polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L 1. Darco HDB 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW PAC 80 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB n ials) 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB n alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB n alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 3. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only 3. sand only		A 1) PAC addition		PAC 80 mg/L	
In alum dose 30 mg/L 100% neurotoxin polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L 1. Darco HDB 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW PAC 80 mg/L In 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L In 100% neurotoxin In Norit SA5 In Norit ROW 0.8 Supra In 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 In 3. sand only		(neurotoxin trials)		5	
100% neurotoxin polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L 1. Darco HDB 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW 2. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW PAC 80 mg/L n 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 2. Calgon GW alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 1. Norit SA5 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit SA5 3. Calgon GW 1. Norit SA5 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 3. sand only		2) alum flocrulation		alum dose 30 mg/L	
 a. Calgon GW b. Norit SA5 c. Norit SA5 c. Norit SA5 c. Calgon GW n 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 c. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB d. Norit SA5 d. Norit SA5<td></td><td>3) molvelectmolyte</td><td>100% neurotoxin</td><td>polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L</td><td></td>		3) molvelectmolyte	100% neurotoxin	polyelectrolyte (LT25) 0.05 mg/L	
2. Norit SA5 s) 1. Calgon GW PAC 80 mg/L nn 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 1s) 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only				1. Darco HDB	
 3. Calgon GW s) PAC 80 mg/L nn 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 3. sand only 				2. Norit SA5	
s) 100% neurotoxin PAC 80 mg/L on 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 3. Darco HDB 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only				3. Calgon GW	
s) 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 1s) 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only		R 1) PAC addition		PAC 80 mg/L	
on 100% neurotoxin alum dose 30 mg/L 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only		(nouvrovin triale))	
1. Norit SA5 1. Norit SA5 2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only		2) alite floctilation	100% neurotoxin	alum dose 30 mg/L	
2. Calgon GW 3. Darco HDB 15) 100% neurotoxin 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra ation 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only				1. Norit SA5	
 Js. Darco HDB 3. Darco HDB 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only 				2. Calgon GW	
 1s) 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only 				3. Darco HDB	
 1s) 100% neurotoxin 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only 		C 1) GAC filtration			
100% neurotoxin 1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra 2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only		(neurotoxin trials)			
2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100 3. sand only		2) rapid sand filtration	100% neurotoxin	1. Norit ROW 0.8 Supra	
		•		2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100	
				3. sand only	

Table 2.5 Toxin Removal Efficiencies of Various Water Treatment Processes (continued).

Stude Tune	Purress Sequence	Toxin Removal Efficiency	Comments	Keterence (adapted from)
Study 1ype	D 1) CAC filtration			Falconer et al. 1989
1.1100 L PAUL	(hometotovin triale)			
		1000 Landadoria	1 Norit ROW 08 Supra	
	2) rapid sand hitration	100% nepatoroxiii		
			2. Calgon Filtrasorb 100	
			3. Darco granular	
			4. Taiko CW120 (#1)	
			5. Norit PK1-3	
			6. Taiko CW120 (#2 used)	
			7. Taiko CW120 (#2)	
			8. Kintal 6, 16J	
			9. sand only	
Dila Dant			fresh cyanobacterial bloom material	Keijola et al. 1988
			and freeze-dried cyanbacterial cells	
			toxins monitored by HPLC, GC/MS	
			recults not well detailed	
	A 1) ozonation	90% (fresh bloom)	J /gm c' l-l asob accord	
		50% (freeze-dried)		
	2) alum flocculation		alum dose 62-75 mg/L	
	3) sand filtration	90% (freeze-dried)		
	B 1) DAC addition	99%. (fresh bloom)	PAC 20 mg/L, type: Merck analytical	
		90% (freeze-dried)	, , ,	
		100% (freeze-dried)	PAC 100 mg/L	
	2) alum flocculation		alum dose62-75 mg/L	
	3) sedimentation			
	4) sand filtration			_
			filtration rate () ()%5 m / h	
	C 1) slow sand nitration	č		
	(biologically active)	68-/4% neurotoxin 82-86% hepatotoxin		

Table 2.5 Toxin Removal Efficiencies of Various Water Treatment Processes (continued).

31

Study Type	Process Sequence	Toxin Removal Efficiency	Comments	Reference (adapted from)
I aboratory			lyophilized cyanobacteria cells	Himberg et al. 1989
			toxins monitored by HPLC	
	A 1) alum flocculation		alum dose 36-41 mg/L	
	2) sand filtration			
	3) chlorination	11-32% hepatotoxin		
		0-14% neurotoxin		
	B 1) FeCl3 flocculation		FeCl3 dose 55 mg/L	
	2) sand filtration			
	3) chlorination	<0-16% hepatotoxin		
		0-49% neurotoxin		
	C 1) PAC addition		PAC dose 5 mg/L	
	2) alum flocculation		alum dose 71-79 mg/L	
	3) sand filtration			
	4) chlorination	13-34% hepatotoxin		-
		58-82% neurotoxin		Keijola et al. 1988
	D 1) alum flocculation		alum dose 66-67 mg/L	Himberg et al. 1989
	2) sand filtration			
	3) GAC filtration		GAC type:	
	4) chlorination	100% hepatotoxin	B. Jakobssons Emb & Kemi AB	
		94-97% neurotoxin		
	E 1) ozonation		ozone dose 1 mg/L	
	2) alum flocculation		alum 74-90 mg/L	
	3) sand filtration			
	4) chlorination	100% hepatotoxin		
		96-100% neurotoxin		

Table 2.5 Toxin Removal Efficiencies of Various Water Treatment Processes (concluded).

3. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The three main objectives of this research were established to obtain basic information on the biogenic compounds produced by cyanobacteria in some prairie lakes and reservoirs during the summer of 1990. This work covers the preliminary research for a longer term project.

3.1 Survey of Toxin Occurrence

The primary objective of this research was to survey a number of raw water supply lakes and agricultural dugouts in Alberta in order to establish the prevalence of toxic blue-green algal blooms. Water bodies which are used as raw water supplies were selected for study because of their immediate relevance to human health. Recent advances in analytical techniques made it possible to provide accurate and sensitive measurements of the algal toxins. Earlier work in Alberta had to rely upon mouse bioassays for detecting the presence of toxins.

3.2 Evaluation of Odour for Detection of Toxin

The second objective of this study was to evaluate the existence of any basic correlation between odour levels and toxin production and the reliability of any correlation as a general method of toxin avoidance.

3.3 Evaluation of Toxin Release by Bloom Control Measures

The final objective of this study was to monitor the amounts of toxin released from algal cell biomass to the water phase following treatment with copper sulfate or calcium hydroxide (lime). Copper sulfate is a chemical commonly used to control algal blooms and lime has been proposed for an alternate treatment.

4. METHODS AND MATERIALS

4.1 Field Procedures

During each sampling visit the water temperature, the water depth, and the Secchi depth were measured at the chosen sampling point. The Secchi depths were measured with a 20-cm Secchi disk.

4.1.1 Sampling

All samples were collected from the approximate centre of the water body. Water samples were collected at a measured depth of 1-3 meters with weighted Tygon[®] tubing and were stored at 4 °C for a maximum of 24 h before analysis. Samples for phosphorus and chlorophyll α were stored in opaque Nalgene bottles, and samples for odour analysis were stored in acidwashed (H₃PO₄) borosilicate glass bottles.

All algal samples were collected and concentrated with a 80-µm Nitex[®] mesh conical net which was 90-cm long with a 29-cm diameter aperture, and fitted with a bucket made with 64-µm mesh (Figure 4.1). Algal samples were stored at 4 °C for up to 48 h in borosilicate glass. Samples for algal typing were stored in clear acid-washed (3% HCl) borosilicate glass bottles and the concentrated algal samples for toxin analysis were stored in borosilicate glass bottles which had been soaked in 3% NaOCl and then rinsed 7 times with distilled water. The lids for all glass storage bottles were lined with Teflon[®].

4.1.2 Odour Evaluation

Each water sample was also checked for the odour of three target odorous compounds; geosmin, 2-methylisoborneol and β -cyclocitral (Figure 4.2). For the dugout program, the odour of the water was checked when it



Figure 4.1 Conical Net Used in Algal Sampling





Structure of geosmin

Structure of 2-methylisoborneol



Structure of β -cyclocitral

was sampled and if a noticeable odour was detectable, a 2-L sample was collected. When sampling at very distant locations, a hexane extraction was carried out on the 2-L sample in the field according to the method developed by Brownlee et al. (1984). 10-mL of double distilled hexane was added to the 2-L water sample and the mixture was vigorously shaken for 5-min. The upper hexane layer was then removed and NaSO₄ was added to remove any water present in the hexane. The odour of the extract was then compared to standards of the odorous geosmin and 2-methylisoborneol.

For the lake water program, samples were collected regardless of whether an odour was perceptible. These samples were collected in 4-L borosilicate glass bottles and were stored at 4 °C during transport to the laboratory. The samples were analysed as described in section 4.3.3.

4.2 Sample Preparation

The concentrated algal samples were decanted and filtered through a coarse filter to remove debris within 48 h. The samples were then transferred to detoxified (3% NaOCl) round bottom flasks. The algal cell suspensions were frozen in an acetone-dry ice bath and then were freeze-dried with a Labconco 4.5-L benchtop freeze-drier.

4.3 Analysis

4.3.1 Hepatotoxins

The extraction method developed by Harada et al. (1988) was modified slightly for this analysis. Approximately 100 mg dried cells were transferred to a 15-mL centrifuge tube, 5-mL 5% acetic acid was added and the suspension was mixed thoroughly with a vortex. The cell mixture was then left in the

37

dark for at least 1-h before mixing again and sonicating 3 times for 30-s. The mixture was left in the dark for at least 1-h, mixed and centrifuged for 1-h at highest speed. The solution was then transferred to a disposable C18 cartridge (Supelco) which had been prepared by washing with 10-mL methanol and then 10-mL water. After applying the sample the cartridge was washed with 10 mL 5% acetic acid, 10-mL water and 10-mL of 10% methanol in water. The microcystin toxins were then eluted with 5-mL methanol. The methanol was evaporated with a slow nitrogen flow overnight. The residue was then redissolved in 750- μ L HPLC solvent (10 mM ammonium acetate : acetonitrile 74 : 26) and transferred to a 1.5-mL Eppendorff tube and centrifuged for 1-h. The supernatant was drawn into a 1-mL Luer lock syringe and passed through a 0.22- μ m filter. A 20- μ L sample was then injected onto a high performance liquid chromatography system equipped with Waters model 6000A pumps, a Hewlett Packard diode array detector (model 1040A) with U.V. detection at 238 nm and c Hewlett Packard HP85 data processor.

A number of the HPLC hepatotoxin analysis methods outlined in the literature were attempted before an appropriate method was selected. Many HPLC methods are instrument specific and a challenged was faced in making an analysis work with the instrument available. The diode array detector has a small volume flow cell and the phosphate buffer and acetonitrile solvent system used by Meriluto and Eriksson (1988) caused continual pressure increases at the detector which were a result of phosphate salts depositing in the flow cell. Chromatographic separation using the recently developed internal surface reversed phase column, 5 μ m GFF ISRP, 15 cm x 4.6 mm ID (Regis Pinkerton) was also attempted. The combined effects of separation through size exclusion and reversed phase chromatography with this column have been shown give adequate resolution of microcystins with a shorter run

time than reversed phase alone. The suggested acetonitrile : phosphate buffer solvent system (Meriluto and Eriksson 1988) was once again unsuccessful because of pressure build up. Resolution of standards was achieved using a solvent system of 20 mM ammonium acetate : acetonitrile (74:26), but when field samples were analysed using this method the toxin peaks could not be resolved, because of the numerous additional peaks. Peaks corresponding to toxin standards were resolved in the field samples using a C18 μ Bondapak, 30 cm x 3.9 mm ID (Waters), with 10 mM ammonium acetate : acetonitrile (74 : 26) solvent system at 1 mL/minute. This solvent system could not be used in the analysis of the batch toxin release samples because resolution could not be achieved due to additional large background peaks. A solvent system of 10 mM ammonium acetate : acetonitrile (76:24) at 1.6 mL/min was used to achieve adequate resolution.

Microcystin LR and RR standards were obtained from Dr. W.W. Carmichael at Wright State University in Dayton, Ohio. Standards of an equal mixture of the LR and RR were analysed under the HPLC conditions mentioned above. A typical standard chromatogram is shown in Figure 4.3. The areas for the LR and RR peaks were plotted against concentration as shown in Figure 4.4. The standard solution of 25 ppm LR and RR was injected each day before any samples were analysed. A typical injection of an algal cell extract is shown in Figure 4.5.







Figure 4.4 Microcystin LR Standard Curve



4.3.2 Anatoxin-a

The extraction method developed by Himberg (1989) was modified slightly for the analysis of the neurotoxin, anatoxin-a. Approximately 50 mg of freeze-dried material was homogenized and placed in a 50-mL centrifuge tube. A 25-mL aliquot of methanol and 0.25-mL of concentrated hydrochloric acid were added, the tubes were capped and the suspension was mixed thoroughly. The algal cells in suspension were lysed in an ultrasonic bath for 15-min and were then centrifuged. The extraction step was then repeated on the centrifuged pellet and the combined supernatants were filtered through a Gelman Acro 50 filter. The solution was then evaporated nearly to dryness under a gentle flow of prepurified nitrogen.

A number of derivatization methods were attempted. The tert-butyldimethylsilyl derivatization of anatoxin-a was attempted because this compound has been shown to give good GC separation with unique, abundant high mass fragments (Ross et al. 1989). This derivatization requires a base such as imidazole be present to act both as an acid acceptor and as an intermediary silyl donor as the N-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-substituted imidazole (Mawhinney and Madson 1982). Equimolar amounts of anatoxin-a and tert-butyldimethylsilyl hydrochloride salt were mixed with twice as many moles of imidazole and heated to 60 °C for 30-min, but high yields of the derivative were not formed. This method is not expected to give high yields when a secondary amine is being derivatized (Mawhinney and Madson 1982) and the preferred derivatizing agent is tert-butyldimethylsilyl-Nmethyltrifluoro acetamide. However this procedure is too moisture sensitive to be used effectively with field samples. The acetyl derivative was finally chosen, despite poorer GC characteristics and less unique fragment ions, because it was easily formed and was appropriate for field samples. According to the method of Himberg (1989), the extraction residue was dissolved in ∞ mL of chloroform and transferred quantitatively to a 10-mL borosilicate culture tube. 1 mL of concentrated acetic acid and 0.5-mL of acetic anhydride were then added, the mixture was mixed gently, and the tube was capped tightly. The mixture was then allowed to react at 50 °C for 16-h. The solution was then evaporated nearly to dryness in a Kuderna-Danish evaporator for nonvolatile solvents. When no smell of acetic acid was detectable the residue was dissolved in 1-mL of chloroform and applied to a Supelclean[®] silica cartridge. The cartridge was washed with 7.5-mL of acetone-chloroform (5-95) and then the acetylated anatoxin-a was eluted with 2-mL of methanol. The solution was finally concentrated down to 100- μ L in a Kuderna-Danish evaporator for nonvolatile solvents and chloroform was added to give a final volume of 1-mL.

This chloroform solution was then used for gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric (GC-MS) analysis for the acetylanatoxin-a. Immediately prior to analysis, 10- μ L of 1-acetylpiperidine (50:50 in chloroform) was added as an internal standard. The GC-MS analysis was carried out in the selected ion mode (SIM) on a Hewlett-Packard 5890 gas chromatograph with an HP 5970 mass-selective detector and an HP 59940 Chemstation[®] data system. The column was 30 m x 0.25 mm I.D. with a DB-1 stationary phase (J & W Scientific) with 0.25- μ m film thickness. The detector temperature was 250 °C and the oven was temperature programmed from 80 to 275 °C at 15 °C/min, with a final hold time 4-min to give a total run time of 17-min. A 1- μ L injection was made with an HP 7673A auto injector, with an injector pressure of 70 kPa and an injector temperature of 240 °C. Ions of m/z = 207, 165, 164, and 136 were used for monitoring acetylanatoxin-a, and ions of m/z = 84 and 127 were monitored for the internal standard. A typical total ion mass spectra

of acetylanatoxin-a is shown in Figure 4.6 and a typical group of SIM traces is shown in Figure 4.7.

Standards of anatoxin-a were obtained from Dr. O.E. Edwards of the Department of Chemistry at Carlton University in Ottawa and a known quantity was derivatized as described above. The internal standard was added and the ratio of the m/z = 165 ion of the acetylanatoxin-a peak area to the m/z = 84 ion of the acetylpiperidine was plotted relative to the mass of anatoxin-a injected (Figure 4.8) Although the m/z = 207 ion was more abundant in the acetylanatoxin-a spectra, it was not selected for the quantitative ratio because it is a common column bleed ion.



Figure 4.6 Total Ion Mass Spectra of Acetylanatoxin-a Standard



Figure 4.7 Selected Ion Monitored Traces of Acetylanatoxin-a Standard



Figure 4.8 Acetylanatoxin-a Standard Curve (acetylpiperidine as internal standard)

4.3.3 Odour Compounds

Analyses were performed by Norine Motkosky according to the baseneutral extraction procedure of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency analytical method 625 detailed in the Federal Register (1984). Solvent extracts were analyzed by GC and flame ionization detection (FID) and chromatographic sniffing using an HP 5890 GC under the following conditions: injector temperature; 225 °C, detector temperature; 300 °C, column; DB-1 stationary phase (J & W Scientific) with 0.25-µm film thickness, 30 m x 0.25 mm I.D., initial column temperature; 35 °C for 5 min, temperature program rate of 5 °C/minute to 290 °C, final temperature hold; 5 min.

Solvent extracts were subjected to a chromatographic sniffing procedure adapted from the method of Sävenhed et al. (1985). The GC was modified by removing the FID and the flame jet and pushing the column end up 10-cm. A 7-cm length of stainless steel tubing was placed over the column to prevent condensation of components at the end of the column. A glass funnel was placed over this tubing with 0.5-cm of the column protruding. As odorous components of each sample eluted, the time, intensity and first impression descriptor were recorded. Odour reference standards were used to establish retention times and descriptors of target compounds.

4.3.4 Dissolved Organic Carbon

Samples were collected in 250-mL glass bottles, immediately acidified to pH 2 with concentrated sulphuric acid, sealed with Teflon[®] lined caps and stored at 4°C in the dark until analyzed (APHA, AWWA and WPCF, 1989). Immediately prior to analysis all samples were filtered through 0.45µm cellulose nitrate filters. Analyses were carried out with a Dohrmann DC 80[®] TOC analyzer which utilizes UV promoted persulfate oxidation followed by

IR detection of resulting carbon dioxide. An autosampler was utilized and all samples were purged for 8-10 min with prepurified nitrogen, to remove most of the volatile inorganic carbon present in each sample. The DC 80 TOC analyzer was calibrated before each set of analysis with 4 injections of a standard potassium hydrogen phthalate solution (prepared fresh weekly) and was checked again during the analysis set with another 4 standard injections. All samples were analyzed in triplicate for total carbon (TC) and inorganic carbon (IC) and the difference in the values was reported as the dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Samples sets demonstrating a relative standard deviation of greater than 2% for DOC were discarded.

4.3.5 Phosphorus

Analyses were performed in the laboratories of Dr. Ellie E. Prepas by Gertie Hutchinson. Samples from the laboratory batch study were collected in 250-mL glass bottles which had been 7 times with double distilled water. The samples were immediately filtered through 0.45-µm HAWP Millipore membrane filters which were pre-rinsed with 500-mL distilled, deionized, phosphorus free water. Filtrates were stored at 4°C before transfer to culture tubes for analysis of total dissolved phosphorus according to the potassium persulfate method (Menzel and Corwin, 1965) within 48-h.

4.3.6 Chlorophyll

Analyses were performed in the laboratories of Dr. Ellie E. Prepas by Mark Serediak and Warren Zyla. Samples were filtered under low pressure (maximum -50 kPa) through Whatman GF/C filters and the filters were placed in petri dishes wrapped in aluminum foil and frozen until analysis. The concentration of chlorophyll α was determined in triplicate with a spectrophotometric technique based on Ostrofsky's ethanol extraction procedure (Bergmann and Peters 1980).

4.3.7 Dissolved Oxygen

Dissolved oxygen measurements were determined with a YSI 54A Oxygen Meter. The meter was initially calibrated with oxygen saturated water using more accurate dissolved oxygen values obtained with the Winkler titration method (APHA, AWWA and WPCF 1989). The meter was calibrated for temperature and barometric pressure daily with an air calibration.

4.3.8 pH

pH values were determined with a Fisher 805 MP digital pH meter. The meter was calibrated through a two point calibration using buffers with pH 4.00 and 10.00 and correcting for temperature.

4.3.9 Species Typing

The various blue-green algal species in each sample collected were determined in the laboratories of Dr. Ellie E. Prepas by Angeline Lam within 24 h of collection using a compound microscope (magnified up to 2000X). Identification of each species was based on descriptions given by Prescott (1978). The relative proportions of predominant species of cyanobacteria in each sample were estimated by cell counts of subsamples under a dissecting microscope. The three predominant blue-green algal species of the lakes studied are pictured in Figures 4.9a, 4.9b and 4.9c



Figure 4.9a Predominant Cyanobacterial Species of Study Lakes Microcystis acruginosa (Magnification 1000x)









4.4 Evaluation

4.4.1 Bioassays

Mouse bioassays were performed by Brian Kotak using facilities at the Saskatchewan Research Council. Approximately 50 mg of freeze dried algal biomass was suspended in 1600-µL 0.9% saline solution. The suspension was then sonicated to lyse the cells and allow release of the toxin to the solution. The samples were centrifuged and the supernatant was collected for bioassay. Supernatants were injected intraperitoneally into male Swiss SRV mice at a dose of 20-µL supernatant per gram of mouse body weight.

The liver of each mouse was weighed immediately after death (mice which had not died within 24-h were sacrificed) and visible signs of liver damage were noted. Results from these experiments were used only for confirmation of acute toxicity of samples shown to contain toxins. Details of these experiments will be reported by Brian Kotak.

4.4.2 Hepatotoxin Isolation

Microcystis aeruginosa cells collected from Coal Lake on Aug. 10, Aug. 16, Aug. 22, Aug. 26 and Aug 30 were combined after freeze-drying to yield a total biomass of 6.5 g. The toxin isolation procedure was a modification of that of Harada et al. (1988). The freeze-dried cells were extracted twice with 5% acetic acid for 1-h with stirring. The extract was centrifuged at 10,000 g for 30-min and the supernatant was applied to a disposable C18 cartridge. The cartridge was washed with 10% methanol, the toxic fraction was eluted with methanol and the solution was evaporated to dryness. The residue was subjected to flash chromatography on silica (Kieselgel 60, 230-400 mesh) using the lower layer of a chloroform : methanol : water (65:35:10) solvent system.
Fractions which were monitored on silica gel TLC plates (Kieselgel $60F_{254}$), using a chloroform : methanol (1:1) development system and pure microcystin LR standard as the reference. Fractions containing microcystin LR were evaporated to near dryness using a rotary evaporator and the residue was subjected to preparative TLC on silica (Kieselgel $60F_{254}$). The plate was developed in a pre-equilibrated TLC chamber using chloroform : methanol (1:1). The developed plate was viewed under short wavelength UV light and the fluorescent band corresponding to the microcystin LR standard spot was marked. Silica gel on this area of the plate was scraped from the plate and washed with solvent to dissolve the microcystin LR. Removal of the solvent gave 4 mg of the compound.

4.4.3 Batch Toxin Release

Concentrated samples of algal cells were collected on three separate dates from a natural bloom in Coal Lake (Figure 4.10). The bloom material was collected on August 26, 1990, September 13, 1990 and September 23, 1990 with a plankton tow net. Bloom material was then mixed with a volume of lake water and transported directly to the laboratory. Water bloom material corresponding to 10 - 15 g dry weight of *Microcystis aeruginosa* were placed in 15-L borosilicate glass containers together with lake water obtained at the same sampling point to give a total volume of 10.7 L. A magnetic stirrer was used to homogenize the mixture and 100-ml homogeneous samples were withdrawn through a tap at the bottom of each container to determine

56





the mass of algal cells present in each vessel. Three containers of bloom material were studied in each trial (Figure 4.11). One was used as a control, one was treated with copper sulfate and one was treated with calcium hydroxide (lime).

The experiment was performed with reference to a procedure established by Berg et al. (1987) and was carried out in a temperature controlled room with the thermostat set at 20 °C \pm 2 °C. The room was illuminated with fluorescent lighting (10 x General Electric cool white F40CW) in a 12 - 12 h light-dark cycle. The illumination near the containers during the experiment was measured with a Protomatic photometer and was found to be approximately 900 lux at the surface of the containers.

After 12 hours, the bloom material had separated into two distinct phases of concentrated algal cells floating on the top of almost clear lake water. The bloom material was then treated with the chosen bloom control chemicals. One container was treated with 2 mg/L CuSO₄ (500 μ g/L Cu) applied with an aerosol sprayer evenly over the floating algal cells. Another container was treated with 100 mg/L Ca(OH)₂ with a second aerosol sprayer evenly over the floating algal cells. The third container was adjusted to an equal volume through the addition of distilled water.

Samples were collected after a specific time period from each container. Samples for trial #1 were collected through the tap at the bottom of each container and samples for trials #2 and #3 were collected with tygon tubing connected to a small liquid pump operating at a flow rate of 100 mL/minute. Samples removed with the pumping system were withdrawn at all depths to approximate a homogeneous sample of the water phase and samples were then analysed as described above.



Figure 4.11 Batch Toxin Release Apparatus

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Batch Toxin Release Studies

Batch toxin release studies were dependent upon being able to collect large quantities of biomass which could be quickly transported to the laboratory and subjected to experimentation. Three batch trials were carried out sequentially over a period of 4 weeks during which the health of the natural blooms was degrading. The batch toxin release studies were carried out at a constant temperature of 20°C and under continuous 12-h light-dark cycles. Prior to treatment with lime and copper sulfate, the algal cells were allowed to separate out to form a thick layer at the top of each vessel (Figure 5.1a). This had generally taken place after leaving the cells overnight. The biomasses were higher than would be expected in a natural bloom, but the levels used had to be selected to ensure detectable toxin levels in both the cells and the water phase for the duration of the experiment.

Because the biomasses were higher than natural situations, copper sulfate doses of 2 mg/L (500 μ g/L Cu) and lime doses of 100 mg/L were used. The copper sulfate was added to one vessel and the lime was added to another vessel, leaving one container with untreated cells to be used as a control. After a period of 24-h there was a very definite visible change in the two treated batches. A large number of cells settled to the bottom of the container which had been treated with lime, although there was no noticeable colour change in the cells. The vessel containing the cells treated with copper sulfate showed a distinct, deep blue-green colouring of the water phase (Figure 5.1b). A copper sulfate solution of 2 mg/L (500 μ g/L Cu) is dilute and does not have a noticeable blue colour, thus this release of pigment indicates that the cells treated with copper sulfate have been lysed and the internal



Figure 5.1a Batch Microcystin LR Release (Time 0)



Figure 5.1b Batch Microcystin LR Release (Time 1 Day)

contents of the cells have been allowed to escape to the water phase. This did not appear to be the case in either the cells treated with lime or the untreated cells.

The amount of microcystin LR released to the water phase for each group of cells was monitored at specific times for each trial. The measured amounts of toxin released to the water phase relative to time of sampling for each trial are shown in Figures 5.2 to 5.4. All measured data are summarized in the appendix. During the first trial, 4 samples were taken in the first day but it became obvious that there were very few cells lysed during this time period. The next two trials were sampled daily. All three trials demonstrated a rapid release of toxin to the water phase after treatment with copper sulfate, with a maximum toxin release after 2 to 4 days. After the period of maximum toxin release there appeared to be a decomposition of the toxin taking place, because toxins levels steadily decreased until the end of the experiment in all three cases. The cells treated with lime showed very little toxin release in all three trials, indicating that although the cells settled to the bottom after lime treatment, they are not lysed in the process. The untreated cells did not release significant levels of toxin in trial #1 but did release small amounts in trial #2 and #3. This difference between trials was probably due to the condition of the cells being used. The cells used for trials #2 and #3 were beginning to collapse when first brought to the laboratory, and therefore may have been decomposing more rapidly during the tests. The apparent microcystin LR transfer rates from the untreated cells to the water phase vary from the results of Berg et al. (1987) where no toxin was released until day 26. These observations suggest that the toxin release likely depends on the status of the algal cells being studied.

















Batch Microcystin LR Release Trial #3

In order to investigate what was happening to the cells after treatment, toxin-producing *Microcystis aeruginosa* was grown by Dr. Hans Peterson of the Saskatchewan Research Council using a culture obtained from Dr. Wayne Carmichael. The algal cells were divided into three parts; one portion was treated with 75 mg/L Ca(OH)₂, one portion was treated with 10 μ M CuSO₄ and one portion was left untreated. After 24-h, cells from each portion were removed with filtration through a 0.45- μ m membrane filter and the collected cells were studied by scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Cells from each portion were also immobilized and sliced into 1- μ m thick sections to allow for attraction dramsission electron microscopy (TEM). The micrographs of each type C. attl are shown in Figures 5.5 to 5.7.

microscopic representations clearly show what was happening to the cells in each case. The SEM photographs indicate that the control cells and the lime treated cells are in similar condition, while the copper sulfate treated cells appear to have collapsed. The TEM photographs clearly indicate that the membrane of the control cell was still intact, as was the membrane of the lime treated cell, although there was an obvious coating around the lime treated cells. The membranes of the cells treated with copper sulfate are no longer intact and the overall integrity of the cells has been lost. These representations indicate toxins should be released rapidly to the water phase after treatment with copper sulfate but not after treatment with lime. Thus they confirm the observations of the three batch trials.



Figure 5.5 Untreated Microcystis aeruginosa cells. Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view.



Figure 5.6 Microcystis aeruginosa cells treated with 75 mg/L Ca(OH)₂ Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view.



Figure 5.7 Microcystis aeruginosa cells treated with 0.010 mM CuSO₄ Top: Scanning Electron Microscopy view. Bottom: Transmission Electron Microscopy view.

5.1.1 Toxin Distribution

It was not possible to measure the total amount of toxin present in each vessel prior to the batch tests because such measurement is a destructive analysis. The initial amounts of toxin had to be estimated by analysis of an aliquot of the biomass. Because of this it was also impossible to calculate the exact distribution of toxin between the algal cells and the water phase. Graphical interpretation of the measured data was used to approximate the toxin distribution in the biological system being studied. The degradation of the toxins released to the water phase was assumed to be exponential (like other biological systems of decay).

The maximum amount of toxin which could be found in the water phase was approximated using the copper sulfate batch study toxin release data in Figures 5.8a and 5.8b. The aqueous toxin levels from the copper sulfate batch studies #2 and #3 were analysed, but the results of the first copper sulfate batch test could not be used as the sampling intervals used were not adequate to monitor the toxin decay. An analysis of an initial aliquot of the biomass in the copper sulfate batch study #2 and #3 gave estimated total toxin concentrations in the vessels of 1.9 mg and 1.8 mg respectively. These values were used to approximate the C_o for a first-order exponential decay curve of the form

$$C = C_0 exp^{(-kt')}$$
(1)

The estimated time of maximum concentration (C_0) was then used as t'=0, and the decay coefficient (k) was calculated. The decay coefficient was found to be 0.25 day⁻¹ for both experiments. This calculated k value was then used to calculate $t_{1/2}$ for each trial. The calculated exponential decay half life from t'=0 (i.e. time at maximum toxin release) was 2.8 days in both experiments.



Figure 5.8a Interpretation of Batch Microcystin LR Release (Copper Sulfate) Trial #2



Figure 5.8b Interpretation of Batch Microcystin LR Release (Copper Sulfate) Tria! #3

5.1.2 Analytical Toxin Recovery Evaluation

Two experimental variables were evaluated for their effects on the levels of toxins released during the experiments. The first variable tested was the method of lysing of the cells. Lysing of the cells with CuSO₄ instead of lysing during the freeze-drying process could result in significantly different measured microcystin LR levels. The effect of time was the second variable of the batch studies to be tested. It is possible that a significantly different mass of microcystin LB and celeased as the cells lysed naturally over time.

In the first experiment, 4 separate cultures of cells containing microcystin LR were split in half and one half was treated with 2 mg/L CuSO₄ and left for 48 h. All samples were then freeze-dried, extracted and analysed for the hepatotoxin. A second group of three natural samples of algal cells known to contain microcystin LR were extracted for both 1 day and for 3 days prior to analysis. Results of these tests are summarized in Tables 5.1 and 5.2.

The t-test for paired data was used to determine if there was a significant difference between each pair of treatments. This test was used because each set of data was obtained using the same algal sample subjected to two different treatments. When applying the paired t-test, the mean difference between the two sets of data was considered as the variate and it was compared with its standard deviation. This removed the test-to-test variation, although there was a corresponding loss in precision because the standard deviation was based on fewer degrees of freedom (Kennedy and Neville 1976). The results summarized in Table 5.3 demonstrate that there was no significant difference in measured toxin levels at the 95% confidence level for either set of samples. Neither the time of extraction nor the lysing of cells with CuSO4 caused a significant variation in the amount of toxin measured in the biomass.

Sample	Culture Date	Control Micrcystin LR µg/g Biomass	CuSO4 Microcystin LR µg/g Biomass
Coal Lake	14-Dec-90	30	26
Pretzlaff	14-Dec-90	111	107
45-5A	7-Dec-90	102	119
45-5A	4-Dec-90	114	119

Table 5.1 Toxin Recovery After Copper Sulphate Treatment

Table 5.2 Toxin Recovery Based on Time of Extraction

Sample	Culture Date	1 Day Extraction Microcystin LR μg/g Biomass	3 Day Extraction Microcystin LR µg/g Biomass
Coal Lake	26-Aug-90	396	400
Coal Lake	13-Sep-90	136	143
Coal Lake	24-Sep-90	119	122

Table 5.3 Paired t-test Values for Toxin Recovery Studies

Comparison	d.f.	Mean Difference	Paired t-value	P (t)
Control & CuSO4	3	3.50	0.7*	P >.55
1 day & 3 day extraction	2	4.67	3.88*	P >.08

* No significant difference at 95% confidence level

5.2 Evaluation of Raw Water Supplies

The lakes and dugouts which were studied for this research were chosen because they serve as raw water supplies for municipal water treatment plants or for the domestic water treatment systems used by rural households. Consequently the occurrence of cyanobacterial toxins in these sources would be relevant to human health.

Climatic conditions during the summer of 1990 were obtained (Environment Canada 1990) and water characteristics were monitored, along with algal biomass, cyanobacterial species present, and corresponding toxin levels measured in the algal cells. Raw and treated water samples from the three municipal water treatment plants which draw raw water from the study lakes were chalysed for the presence of the hepatotoxin microcystin LR. Lake water samples were analysed for odorous compounds commonly found in waters containing cyanobacteria and algal cell toxin levels were compared to the presence of these odorous metabolites.

A verification of the toxicity of the algal cells collected was also carried out through the use of a limited number of mouse bioassays.

5.2.1 Weather Trends and Temperatures

The weather in Alberta during the summer of 1990 was warm enough to favour the formation of cyanobacterial blooms in many parts of the province. In general cyanobacteria will grow rapidly and form a bloom if there is adequate light, little wind and a water temperature of at least 15 °C (Skulberg et al. 1984) These criteria were met in early June for many of the small dugouts and favourable conditions were observed at the study lakes when sampling began at the end of July. The general trend in daily average temperature, windspeed and hours of bright sunshine in central Alberta is shown in Figure 5.9 (Environment Canada, 1990). The more specific conditions at Camrose and Wetaskiwin are shown in Figures 5.10 and 5.11 (Environment Canada, 1990; data obtained prior to publishing). All data are tabulated in the appendix. No specific meteorological conditions are monitored at the Village of Ferintosh but climatic conditions were very similar to those observed at Coal Lake and Driedmeat Lake. These figures indicate that there was a period of relative calm combined with long house of bright sunshine during the latter half of July. These conditions, when combined with temperatures which were warm enough to heat the water to other 20 °C at the beginning of August, were favourable for the rapid growth of a number of cyanobacteria species.





- B. Daily Average Windspeed
- C. Daily Average Hours of Bright Sunshine

(adapted from: Environment Canada 1990)



Figure 5.10 Daily High Air Temperature at Camrose (adapted from: Environment Canada 1990) and Surface Water Temperature in Driedmeat Lake



Figure 5.11 Daily High Air Temperature at Wetaskiwin (adapted from: Environment Canada 1990) and Surface Water Temperature in Coal Lake

5.2.2 Algal Species Distribution

ŝ

Algal samples, collected from each lake or dugout, were found to contain a number of algal species with distributions varying continuously over the summer. Expected species of cyanobacteria such as Microcystis aeruginosa, Anabaena flos-aquae and Aphanizomenon flos-aquae were found in many of the samples, along with a number of other blue-green algal Algal species distribution for the lake samples collected are species. summarized in Figures 5.12, 5.13 and 5.14. Percentages of each species are approximate and are included only to illustrate the general trends in species These figures demonstrate the dynamic nature of the domination. distribution of the various species of cyanobacteria. Only Little Beaver Lake was dominated by one cyanobacterial species throughout the sampling period This may indicate that the Aphanizomenon flos-aquae species pr conditions which are slightly different than those preferred by Microc Anabaena and these conditions were present in the small and shallow Beaver Lake throughout the summer.

Microcystis aeruginosa cells were found in all three study lakes but were only found in one dugout (Pretzlaff). All samples which were found to contain Microcystis cells were extracted and analysed for microcystin toxins. Anabacna flos-aquae cells were found in Driedmeat Lake along with one Helbig dugout, the Pretzlaff dugout and three Peace River area dugouts. All samples which were found to contain Anabaena cells were extracted and analysed for both microcystin toxins and anatoxin-a.













5.2.3 Hepatotoxin

The algal samples which contained either *Microcystis aeruginosa* or *Anabaena flos-aquae* were extracted and analysed for the presence of microcystin LR and microcystin RR, the two cya, or acterial hepatotoxins which were available as standards in our laboratory. None of the samples contained detectable amounts of microcystin RR and only the samples which contained *Microcystis* cells contained detectable amounts of microcystin LR. The hepatotoxin was detected in all three of the study lakes, but was not detected in any of the agricultural dugouts. Measured LR concentrations were reported on a mass of toxin per mass of dry biomass weight basis. This biomass included all species of algae present as well as zooplankton which were not filtered out prior to lyophilization of the algal cells. Algal species distributions and corresponding microcystin LR levels are listed in the appendix. The relative distribution of *Microcystis* spp. and microcystin LR extracted from the biomass is portrayed in Figures 5.15 to 5.17 for Coal Lake, Driedmeat Lake and Little Beaver Lake.

The data which were obtained for the Coal Lake samples, shown in Figure 5.15, indicate that there was a general correlation between the growth of *Microcystis* spp. cells and the production of microcystin LR within the cells. The data collected for both Driedmeat Lake and Little Beaver Lake, shown in Figures 5.16 and 5.17, demonstrate an apparent time lag between the growth of Microcystis cells and the production of microcystin LR.



Relative Distribution of Microcystis spp. and Microcystin LR for Coal Lake Figure 5.15



Relative Distribution of Microcystis spp. and Microcystin LR for Driedmeat Lake Figure 5.16



Relative Distribution of Microcystis spp. and Microcystin LR for Little Beaver Lake Figure 5.17

5.1.3.1 Algal Biomass

The algal biomass in each natural water body can be estimated from measured chlorophyll α values. A general relationship is given in Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, AWWA and WPCF, 1989). The assumption is made that chlorophyll α constitutes, on the average, 1.5% of the dry weight of organic matter (ash free weight) of algae. Consequently algal biomass is calculated by multiplying chlorophyll α content by 67. The trend in chlorophyll α concentrations for each of the lakes sampled is shown in Figures 5.18 to 5.20. The average chlorophyll α level for Driedmeat Lake was 11.6 µg/L and this is typical of moderately productive lakes during occasional algal blooms. Coal Lake had an average chlorophyll α level of 29.9 µg/L and Little Beaver Lake had an average level of 29.1 µg/L which are levels typically found in eutrophic lakes which are well nourished and have algal blooms most of the summer (Mitchell and Prepas 1990).

General trends of total and dissolved phosphorus and inorganic nitrogen in the lake waters are also shown in Figures 5.18 to 5.20. It was also difficult to correlate the measured dissolved or total phosphorus to cyanobacteria growth or toxin production without data prior to the algal blooms. The phosphorus data do indicate total phosphorus concentrations typical of eutrophic freshwater lakes (Prepas and Trew 1983).

It is known that in general, low concentrations of available nitrogen will favour the growth of cyanobacteria which fix atmospheric nitrogen (Mitchell and Prepas 1990). Nitrogen levels measured in the three lakes generally follow this trend. Species distributions shown in Figures 5.12 to 5.14 indicate that percentages of *Microcystis* spp. (which cannot fix nitrogen) increase after nitrogen levels increase. In general species such as *Aphanizomenon* and *Anabaena*, which can fix nitrogen, predominate as





- A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus
- B. Chlorophyll α Concentrations
 C. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N





- A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus
- B. Chlorophyll α ConcentrationsC. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N



Figure 5.20 Little Beaver Lake

- A. Total Phosphorus, Total Dissolved Phosphorus
- B. Chlorophyll α Concentrations
- C. Nitrate + Nitrite and Ammonia N

nitrogen levels decrease. All chlorophyll, phosphorous and nitrogen data are tabulated in the appendix

5.2.3.2 Water Treatment Plant Samples

The concern surrounding the human health effects due to long-term ingestion of water containing low levels of algal hepatotoxins warranted the study of water samples taken from the lakes which serve as raw water sources. These include Coal Lake which supplies the City of Wetaskiwin water treatment plant, Driedmeat Lake which supplies the City of Camrose water treatment plant and Little Beaver Lake which supplies the Village of Ferintosh water treatment plant. Water samples were taken at the raw water intake line and the final treated water line. These samples were immediately filtered and analysed for the hepatotoxin LR concentration in the water as well as the dissolved organic carbon concentrations. There was only one raw water sample (Coal Lake, Aug. 23) which contained LR concentrations above the detection limit of 1 ppb, and none of the treated water samples indicated that LR had remained in the water after treatment. These monitoring results are summarized in Table 5.4.

The results indicated that the raw water reaching the intake for the treatment plants did not contain detectable toxin levels. The dissolved organic carbon levels are also summarized in Table 5.4 but they cannot be related to the non-detectable toxin levels. Figures 5.21, 5.22 and 5.23 illustrate the water treatment processes in use at each of the three plants.
Table 5.4 Water Treatment Plant Samples

	Date Collected	DOC (ppm)	Microcystin LR (µg/L)
Camrose Raw	Aug-23-90	16.5	N/D
	Aug-27-90	16.5	N/D
	5ept-04-90	16.4	N/D
	Sept-10-90	15.4	N/D
	Sept-17-90	15.2	N/D
	Sept-24-90	13.9	N/D
	Oct-01-90	13.4	N/D
	Oct-09-%	17.1	N/D
Camrose Treated	Aug-23-90	7.2	N/D
	Aug-27-90	7.5	N/D
	Sept-04-90	7.2	N/D
	Sept-10-90	7.1	N/D
	Sept-17-90	7.0	N/D
	Sept-24-90	6.8	N/D
	Oct-01-90	6.3	N/D
	Oct-09-90	7.4	N/D
Wetaskiwin Raw	Aug-23-90	17.3	1
	Aug-27-90	17.3	N/D
	Sept-04-90	18.2	N/D
	Sept-10-90	24.1	N/D
	Sept-17-90	17.3	N/D
	Sept-24-90	24.9	N/D
	Oct-01-90	17.0	N/D
	Oct-09-90	17.9	N/D
Wetaskiwin Treated	Aug-23-90	7.9	N/D
	Aug-27-90	6.9	N/D
	Sept-04-90	6.4	N/D
	Sept-10-90	7.4	N/D
	Sept-17-90	7.1	N/D
	Sept-24-90	8.2	N/D
	Oct-01-90	9.8	N/D
	Oct-09-90	9.7	N/D
Ferintosh Raw	Aug-23-90	30.0	N/D
	Aug-27-90	30.8	N/D
	Sept-04-90	30.7	N/D
	Sept-10-90	31.6	N/D
	Sept-17-90	28.7	N/D
	Sept-24-90	27.4	N/D
1	Oct-01-90	27.4	N/D
	Oct-09-90	28.1	N/D
Ferintosh Treated	Aug-23-90	23.5	N/D
	Aug-27-90	22.9	N/D
	Sept-04-90	20.9	N/D
1	Sept-10-90	21.2	N/D
	Sept-17-90	20.8	N/D
	Sept-24-90	21.1	N/D
	Oct-01-90	20.3	N/D
	Oct-09-90	20.5	N/D

N/D = Not Detectable



Figure 5.22 Camrose Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet



Figure 5.21 Wetaskiwin Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet



Figure 5.23 Ferintosh Water Treatment Plant Process Flowsheet

The Wetaskiwin and Ferintosh treatment plants use GAC filtration and therefore, under correct operating procedures both would be expected to remove cyanobacterial toxins. The Camrose treatment plant utilizes PAC and would not likely be as reliable, given that practical PAC doses are usually less than 25 mg/L.

5.2.3.3 Bioassay Confirmation

The inherent weakness in the analytical methods used for the analysis of the algal toxins was that the compounds measured may not actually be toxic and they could be incorrectly labelled. To eliminate any such errors, and to demonstrate the urgency of the problems caused by these naturally produced toxins, a number of samples were chosen for toxicity confirmation through mouse bioassays.

Samples which were tested with the mouse bioassay were selected to include a range of measured toxin levels (toxin/g of biomass). Samples which contained varying levels of the hepatotoxin microcystin LR were found to cause acute liver damage which was strongly correlated to the measured toxin levels (Kotak 1990). The type of liver damage observed was consistent with that expected for microcystin LR and that demonstrated by the standard. None of the samples tested were found to cause any detectable neurological damage, thereby suggesting the absence of any substantial quantities of neurotoxins.

5.2.3.4 Mass Spectral Confirmation

Fast atom bombardment (FAB) mass spectral analysis was performed by Dr. Angelina Morales using a Kratos MS9 double focussing mass spectrometer. Samples were dissolved in approximately 1-µL of magic bullet

96

matrix on the surface of the FAB probe tip. The probe was introduced into the ion source and exposed to the 7 KeV xenon atom beam. A clear pseudomolecular ion $(M+H)^+$ at m/z 995 was seen in the spectrum of each sample. No significant fragmentation can be expected with cyclic polypeptides, thus the spectra will show no significant fragment ions other than those attributable to the matrix. Spectra obtained for the isolated toxin and the microcystin LR standard are shown in the appendix. The isolated toxin was not desalted and thus some sodium salts are probably present. Additional pseudomolecular ions in the isolated toxin spectra, formed by clustering with sodium ((M+Na)⁺ at m/z 1017, (M+Na)⁺Na at m/z 1040 and (M+Na)⁺Na₂ at m/z 1063), were observed and reinforced confirmation of the microcystin LR molecular weight of 994 g/mole.

The intensities and isotope patterns in the pseudomolecular ion regions of both spectra are practically identical. The pseudomolecular region of the spectra of the isolated toxin is shown in Figure 5.24 and it compares favourably to this region of spectra obtained with the microcystin LR standard (Figure 5.25) and documented spectra of microcystin LR (Harada et al. 1988 and Krishnamurthy et al. 1986), again confirmation the isolation of microcystin LR from the algal bloom material.

5.2.4 Anatoxin-a

Samples which contained Anabaena flos-aquae cells were extracted and analysed for anatoxin-a. None of the natural algal cell samples collected contained detectable levels of anatoxin-a, but one sample which was cultured in the Department of Zoology from Anabaena flos-aquae cells which had been collected from the Frey degout (Peace River area) did contain the neurotoxin. The area ratio for the standard m/z = 165 ion peak relative to the









internal standard m/z = 84 ion peak was .0025. This ratio corresponds to a GC injection of 1.0 ng of anatoxin-a, indicating that 1.0 μ g was the total extracted mass of anatoxin-a. The extraction was carried out on 15.9 mg of biomass, so that there was 63 μ g anatoxin-a per g of biomass. This analysis also indicated that the detection limit of the analytical method used was at least 1 ng of injected anatoxin-a.

5.2.5 Odour Analysis and Correlation

There is an understanding that odour incidents in water supplies are often related to the incidence of dense algal blooms. Along with this reality goes the possible misconception that, in the absence of any objectionable tastes or odours, there is also an absence of the toxic compounds produced by the algae. The samples collected from the study lakes were analysed for microcystin LR, anatoxin-a and the odour-causing agents geosmin, 2-MIB, and β -cyclocitral.

The only toxin found in our survey was microcystin LR, but the source, *Microcystis aeruginosa*, has not been reported to produce either geosmin or 2-MIB. Consequently, a correlation between microcystin LR occurrence and these two potent odour agents would not be predictable from the literature. However, *Microcystis aeruginosa* was reported to be a potent producer of β -cyclocitral (Jüttner 1988), so a correlation of microcystin LR with this compound is possible.

The data collected over the summer of 1990 in 8 Alberta lakes are summarized in Table 5.5 to 5.8. This data is based entirely on the presence or absence of FID peaks at retention times equivalent to standards of the target odour compounds. The protocol used for geosmin and 2-MIB was not sufficiently sensitive to detect these compounds, instrumentally, below their

Date	Mass LR/Biomass	Geosmin*	2-MIB*	β-cyclocitral*
	(µg/g)			
1-Aug-90	189	-	-	-
10-Aug-90	507	-	-	-
16-Aug-90	490	-	-	-
22-Aug-90	387	-	-	-
30-Aug-90	418	+	+	-
10-Sep-90	170	+	-	-
13-Sep-90	124	+	+	-
17-Sep-90	219	-	+	-
20-Sep-90	49	+	-	-
24-Sep-90	98	+	+	-
27-Sep-90	65	+	+	-
1-Oct-90	179	+	+	-
4-Oct-90	53	+	+	-
11-Oct-90	6	+	+	-

Table 5.5Coal Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds.(Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)

* (+) peak present; (-) peak absent

Table 5.6 Driedmeat Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds(Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)

Date	Mass LR/Biomass	Geosmin*	2-MIB*	β -cyclocitral*
	(µg/g)			
1-Aug-90	87	-	-	-
10-Aug-90	17	-	-	-
16-Aug-90	177	-	+	-
10-Sep-90	372	+	+	-
13-Sep-90	245	+	+	-
17-Sep-90	199	-	+	-
20-Sep-90	N/D	+	+	-
24-Sep-90	N/D	+	+	-
27-Sep-90	N/D	-	+	-

* (+) peak present; (-) peak absent

Date	Mass LR/Biomass	Geosmin*	2-MIB*	β -cyclocitral*
	(µg/g)			
1-Aug-90	8	-	+	-
10-Aug-90	24	+	+	-
16-Aug-90	12	+	+	-
22-Aug-90	34	-	+	-
30-Aug-90	53	+	-	æ
6-Aug-90	N/D	+	+	-
10-Sep-90	20	+	+	-
13-Sep-90	27	+	+	-
17-Sep-90	N/D	+	+	-
20-Sep-90	209	+	+	-
24-Sep-90	435	+	+	-
27-Sep-90	74	+	+	-
1-Oct-90	30	-	-	-
4-Oct-90	25	+	+	-
11-Oct-90	4	-	-	<u> </u>

Table 5.7 Little Beaver Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)

* (+) peak present; (-) peak absent

Table 5.8 Other Lake Toxin and Possible Target Odour Compounds (Peaks Detected by GC/FID at Correct Retention Time)

Lake	Mass LR/Biomass	Geosmin*	2-MIB*	β -cyclocitral*
(Date)	(µg/g)			
Hastings	8	+	+	-
(31-Jul-90)				
Cooking	N/D	-	-	-
(31-Jul-90)				
Nakamun	39	-	-	-
(2-Aug-90				
La Nonne	N/D	-	-	-
(2-Aug-90)				
Isle	244	+	+	-
(19-Aug-90)			<u> </u>	

* (+) peak present; (-) peak absent

odour threshold concentrations in water. The FID method for β -cyclocitral had a detection limit of 0.5 µg/L, well below the odour threshold concentration of 19 µg/L (Persson and Jüttner 1983). A limited set of samples were subjected to chromatographic sniffing which allowed consistent detection of geosmin and 2-MIB to equivalent water concentrations of 7 and 4 ng/L respectively. Chromatographic sniffing is more definitive than FID analysis based solely on retention time, but sniffing is not quantitative. Table 5.9 summarizes the results of the presence of the target odour compounds detected by chromatographic sniffing of water sample extracts in relation to microcystin LR analysis of bloom samples.

Table 5.9Presence of Odour Agents (Detected by Chromatographic
Sniffing) in Relation to Occurrence of Microcystin LR

Microcystin LR	Geosmin*	2-Methyl-	Sample Source
(µg/g biomass)		isoborneol*	
N.D.	+	+	Little Beaver Lake
N.D.	+	+	Little Beaver Lake
20	+	÷	Little Beaver Lake
27	+	+	Little Beaver Lake
53	+	+	Little Beaver Lake
87	-	-	Driedmeat Lake
170	-	+	Coal Lake
177	-	, +	Driedmeat Lake
209	+	+	Little Beaver Lake
405	4	+	Little Beaver Lake
507	ت		Coal Lake

* (+) compound detected; (-) compound not detected

The presence of an FID peak often failed to correspond to an odour peak during chromatographic sniffing suggesting interference by non-target compounds on the FID chromatograms. The water samples screened for target odour compounds by chromatographic sniffing indicated that geosmin and 2-MIB were consistently detectable at Little Beaver Lake while microcystin LR appeared in the bloom biomass to varying degrees. For water samples screened from Coal and Driedmeat Lakes by chromatographic sniffing, geosmin was not detectable and 2-MIB was detected in half of the samples while substantial quantities of microcystin LR were present in the bloom biomass. β -cyclocitral, which should be characteristic of *M. aeruginosa* was not detected in any of the water samples although 36 out of 43 bloom biomass samples from all sources were positive for microcystin I.R. The results indicate that the odour agents monitored for water samples were not a reliable indicator of blue-green algal toxin in the biomass.

5.2.6 Evaluation of Significance

The toxin levels which may be present in the raw water supplies will vary. Possible loading scenarios for the lakes can be approximated using the chlorophyll α data and the microcystin LR toxin levels. The worst possible scenario during the summer of 1990 was at Coal Lake on August 20. With the summer average chlorophyll α value (to account for the spatial heterogeneity of the algal cell distribution) of 30 µg/L (wet weight) and average conversion factors, the average chlorophyll α concentration (dry weight) can be estimated:

$$C = \frac{\alpha M}{m}$$
(2)

where:

C = average biomass concentration (dry weight) (μg/L)
 α = chlorophyll α concentration (wet weight) (μg /L)
 M = mass of average dry cyanobacterial cell (pg)
 m = mass of chlorophyll α per average cyanobacterial cell (pg)

$$C = \frac{30 \,\mu g/L * 32 \,pg}{0.36 \,pg}$$

$$C = 2 \times 10^3 \,\mu g/L$$
or:
$$C = 0.002 \,g/L$$

This biomass concentration (dry weight) can then be used with the microcystin LR concentration (dry weight) of 507 μ g/g to estimate the toxin loading:

$$LR = CM$$
(3)

where: LR = microcystin LR loading (µg/L)
 C = average biomass concentration (dry wight) (g/L)
 M = microcystin LR concentration (µg toxin / dry g biomass)

$$LR = 0.002 \text{ g/L} * 507 \mu \text{g/g}$$

 $LR = 1 \mu \text{g/L}$

In this case there would be an approximate microcystin LR loading of 1 μ g toxin/L of lake water. If the bloom collapsed rapidly, concentrations at this level could be found in the water. Concentrations reaching the water treatment plant submerged intake would be this high if there was complete vertical mixing. This could be possible because the toxins will be released as the cells settle and therefore can be distributed at all depths. Vertical stratification could be expected in deep lakes.

The highest toxin loading of Driedmeat Lake was on September 10 when the toxin concentration could have reached 0.4 μ g microcystin LR/L of lake water, if there had been a rapid collapse. In Little Beaver Lake the

highest concentration would have been on September 24 when a rapid collapse would have resulted in 1 μ g microcystin LR/L of lake water.

The above values were calculated assuming a homogeneous mix of algal cells throughout the lake water. Cyanobacteria have gas vacuoles which allow them to float on or near the surface, and under certain wind conditions algae will collect on the windward side of the lake in a dense scum on top of the water. If such a scum collected directly over the water intake at the time of a rapid collapse, there would be considerably higher toxin levels entering the water treatment plant intake.

The thickness of the algal cells used in the batch studies can be taken as a pessimistic upper bound for this type of scum. The batch study vessels had cross sectional areas of 0.045 m^2 and each contained approximately 15 g of algal cells (dry weight). However, the batch study vessel unnaturally confined the bloom material. Figure 4.10 indicates that a natural bloom has approximately 50% coverage of biomass which is about half as thick as biomass confined to a batch study vessel. Thus a natural bloom over the 0.45 m² area can be estimated as having only one quarter the biomass (i.e. 3.75 g dry weight). If this algal suspension collected directly over the withdrawal area of an intake which was at a depth of 3 m, the biomass concentration can be estimated as:

$$C = \frac{m}{A d}$$
(4)

where:

m = mass of cellsA = area of vessel (m²)

d = depth of theoretical intake (m)

C = biomass concentration (g/m^3)

$$C = \frac{3.75 \text{ g}}{0.045 \text{ m}^2 * 3 \text{ m}}$$

$$C = 27.8 \text{ g/m}^3$$
or
$$C = 0.0278 \text{ g/L}$$

If these cells contained microcystin LR at a concentration of 400 μ g/g, equation (2) can be used to estimate the microcystin LR loading:

$$LR = 0.0278g/L * 400 \mu g/g$$

$$LR = 11 \,\mu g/L$$

If there was a rapid collapse of the bloom, there could be a complete mix water column concentration of 11 μ g LR/L. This was once again assuming complete vertical mixing because the toxin is released as the dead cells are settling.

If this was the raw water for a treatment plant utilizing PAC, 90% of the toxin would be removed leaving 1.1 μ g/L of toxin remaining in the treated water. The hazard associated with the level is difficult to judge because specific human health guidelines for microcystin LR have not been developed. However an approximation can be inferred from the approach taken to develop standards for acute poisons. Given the LD₅₀ of 50 μ g/kg reported for microcystin LR (Carmichael 1988), a no effect level would likely be at least 10 fold lower. If an uncertainty factor of 10 for species extrapolation (mice to humans) and another uncertainty factor of 10 for most sensitive individual, a tolerable acute dose for humans might be approximated at 0.050 μ g/kg. A common exposure assessment for a 20 kg child would assume consumption of 1.4 L/d. In the case of microcystin LR the estimated "safe" level for acute poisoning corresponds to a water concentration of 0.7 μ g/L.

Consequently, the worst case calculation above suggests that an estimated safe level could be substantially exceeded. The calculations also show that an estimated "safe" level would be just below our current detection limit for the toxin. These assumptions relate to the safety relative to acute lethal poisoning. A safe level for chronic liver damage may be substantially lower. Liver damage can occur in individuals whose drinking water supplies are contaminated with toxic cyanobacteria (Falconer et al. 1983a and Hawkins et al. 1985). The possible human health effects and the estimated worst case scenario calculations outlined above, indicate the importance of monitoring the cyanobacteria found in drinking water supplies.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The preliminary work performed for this project led to a number of distinct conclusions and each of the three research objectives was met during the course of this research.

Laboratory batch experiments with field samples of cyanobacterial bloom material showed that copper sulfate lysed cells, leading to catastrophic release of microcystin LR to the water phase. Lime treatment tended to precipitate cells but did not cause extensive cell lysis or toxin release. Analysis of the water following toxin release showed a half life for microcystin LR, under artificial laboratory conditions, of 2.8 days. Based on these observations, copper sulfate should not be used to treat potentially toxic cyanobacterial blooms in water to be consumed by humans or animals. These findings should be understood by operators of water treatment systems drawing upon water sources vulnerable to cyanobacterial blooms.

The survey of various water bodies throughout Alberta demonstrated that toxic cyanobacterial blooms were prevalent during the summer of 1990. The potent hepatotoxin, microcystin LR, was prevalent in cyanobacterial blooms on three shallow lakes used as municipal drinking water sources. Although no toxic blooms were detected in the agricultural dugouts sampled, this was likely due to active suppression of the algal blooms by chemical treatments.

Some common cyanobacterial odour agents (geosmin, 2-MIB, and β -cyclocitral) failed to provide either sensitive or reliable warning of the occurrence of microcystin LR in cyanobacterial blooms on the lakes studied. The absence of a relationship between odour agents, geosmin and 2-MIB, and the presence of microcystin LR is consistent with the absence of any literature reports of *Microcystis* spp. producing geosmin or 2-MIB. However,

 β -cyclocitral, which should be characteristic of *Microcystis aeruginosa*, also failed to be an indicator of microcystin LR presence.

Toxic blooms were found in a number of lakes which serve as raw water sources for municipal water treatment plants. Calculations, based upon the biomass concentrations of Microcystin LR measured in this survey, suggest that treated water, under plausible worst case bloom collapse conditions, might not be safe by an adequate margin for the most sensitive human consumers. Given the prevalence of eutrophic water supply sources and the absence of any apparent relationship between odour and toxin occurrence, cyanobacterial toxins warrant serious consideration quite c_{1} arately from the valid concerns about odour.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS

Because this work was only the preliminary investigation of blue-green algal problems in prairie water supplies there are a number of factors which must be studied to gain a more complete understanding of the situation.

A complete study of the environmental problems associated with algal blooms should include identification and quantification of the critical chemical and environmental properties required to accurately predict the distribution and ultimate fate of the algal toxins, as well as the health risks associated with the toxins. The known properties of the *Microcystis* and *Anabaena* toxins are limited and a determination of these properties was not feasible during this study because only extremely limited quantities of the toxins were available for study.

The most critical physical property in the study of the environmental distribution of the toxic compounds is aqueous solubility. The solubility of the cyanobacterial toxins did not limit the studies carried out for this preliminary investigation, but it could influence more detailed studies of the environmental properties of the toxins. Properties which are indicative of the transport or partitioning of the toxins within and between environmental compartments also deserve consideration. Distribution is expected to be limited to interactions between water and biota or water and sediment because the toxins are not volatile and can be adsorbed on activated carbon. The tendency of the toxins to accumulate in each phase could be inferred from knowledge of the octanol/water partition coefficient.

Understanding the persistence of the compounds in the aquatic environment is also critical. Degradation of the polypeptide toxins may occur through hydrolysis, photolysis or biodegradation (aerobic or anaerobic). Biodegradation studies could be performed if photolysis and hydrolysis were not found to be significant degradation pathways, but there would be some difficulty in setting up biodegradation conditions in the laboratory which simulate environmental conditions. In all degradation studies it will be critical to consider the effect of key environmental parameters such as temperature, concentration, pH and ionic strength.

There should also be more detailed study into the release of toxins after treatment with lime, copper sulfate and other control chemicals in the natural environment, in order to include the effects of mixing and establish decomposition mechanisms. Studies using ¹⁴C-labeled cyanobacterial cultures (Fedorak and Huck 1988) could be very informative.

This survey and the corresponding theoretical toxin loading calculations suggest there is a need for a drinking water guideline to be developed for microcystin LR.

8. REFERENCES

8.1 References Cited

Alberta Agriculture. (1989). <u>Dugout Maintenance</u>. Agrifax, Agdex FS716 (B31), Edmonton, Alberta. 4 pp.

Alberta Bureau of Statistics. (1990). Alberta Statistical Review. 2nd Quarter.

- American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association and Water Pollution Control Federation, joint editors. (1989). <u>Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater</u>, 18th edition, Washington, D.C.
- Ashitani, K., Hishada, Y. and Fujiwara, K. (1988). Behavior of musty odorous compounds during the process of water treatment. <u>Water Science and Technology</u>, 20: 261-267.
- Astrachan, N.B. and Archer, B.G. (1981). Simplified monitoring of anatoxina by reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography and the sub-acute effects of anatoxin-a in rats. In <u>The Water Environment:</u> <u>Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 437-446.
- Berg, K., Skulberg, O.M. and Skulberg, R. (1987). Effects of decaying toxic blue-green algae on water quality a laboratory study. <u>Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie</u>, 108(4): 549-563.
- Berglind, L., Johnsen, I.J., Ormerod, K. and Skulberg, O.M. (1983). Oscillatoria brevis (Kutz.) gom. and some other especially odouriferous benthic cyanophytes in Norwegian inland waters. <u>Water Science and</u> Technology, 15: 241-246.
- Bergmann, M. and Peters, R.H. (1980). A sample reflectance method for the measurement of particulate pigment in lake water and its application to phosphorus-chlorophyll-seston relationships. <u>Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science</u>, 37: 111-114.
- Billings, W.H. (1981). Water-associated human illness in northeast Pennsylvania and its suspected association with blue-green algae blooms. In <u>The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 243-255.

- Isolation and 114 Bishop, C.T., Anet, E.F.L.J. and Gorham, P.R. (1959). identification of the fast death factor in Microcystis aeruginosa NRC-1. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology, 37: 453-471.
- Botes, D.P., Wessels, P.L., Kruger, H., Runnegar, M.T.C., Santikarn, S., Smith, R.J., Barna, J.C.J. and Williams, D.H. (1985). Structural studies on cyanoginosin -LR, -YR, -YA and -YM: Peptide toxins from Microcystis aeruginosa. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions, 1: 2747-2752.
- Botes, D.P., Tuinman, A.A., Wessels, P.L., Viljoen, C.C. and Kruger, H. (1984). The structure of Cyanoginosin-LA, a cyclic heptapeptide toxin from the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkins Transactions, 1: 2311-2318.
- Botes, D.P., Kruger, H. and Viljoen, C.C. (1982). Isolation and characterization of four toxins from the blue green algae, Microcystis aeruginosa. Toxicon, 20(6): 945-954.
- Bourke, A.T.C. and Hawkes, R.B. (1983). Freshwater cyanobacteria (bluegreen algae) and human health. The Medical Journal of Australia, May 28, 491-492.
- Brownlee, B.G., Painter, D.S. and Boone. R.J. (1984). Identification of taste and odour compounds from western Lake Ontario. Water Pollution Research Journal of Canada, 19(1): 111-118.
- Carmichael, W.W. (1988). Toxins of freshwater algae. In Handbook of Natural Toxins, vol. 3, Marine Toxins and Venoms, ed. A. T. Tu, Marcel Dekker, New York, 121-147.
- Carmichael, W.W. and Mahmood, N.A. (1984). Toxins from freshwater cyanobacteria. In Seafood Toxins. Edited by E.P. Ragelis. American Chemical Society Symposium Series 262, Washington D.C., 377-389.
- Carmichael, W.W. and Schwartz, L.D. (1984) Preventing Livestock Deaths from Blue-green Algae Poisoning. USDA Farmers' Bulletin no. 2275. 12 pp.
- Carmichael, W.W. (1982). Chemical and toxicological studies of the toxic freshwater cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa, Anabaena flos-aquae and Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. South African Journal of Science, 78: 367-372.

- Carmichael, W.W. and Gorham, P.R. (1981). The Mosaic nature of toxic blooms of cyanobacteria. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 161-172.
- Carmichael, W.W. and Bent, P.E. (1981). Hemagglutination method for detection of freshwater cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) toxins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 41(6): 1383-1388.
- Carmichael, W.W., Biggs, D.F. and Peterson, M.A. (1979). Pharmacology of anatoxin-a, produced by the freshwater cyanophyte Anabaena flosaguae NRC-44-1. Toxicon, 17: 229-236.
- Carmichael, W.W. and Gorham, P.R. (1978). Anatoxins from clones of Anabaena flos-aquae isolated from lakes of western Canada. Mitteilungen Internationale Vereinigung fuer Theoetische und Angewandte Limnologie, 21: 285-295.
- Carmichael, W.W., Biggs, D.F. and Gorham, P.R. (1975). Toxicology and pharmacological action of Anabaena flos-aquae toxin. Science, 187: 542-544.
- Cees, B., Zoetman, J. and Piet, G.J. (1974). Cause and identification of taste and odour compounds in water. Science of the Total Environment, 2: 103-115.
- Codd, G.A., Bell, S.G. and Brooks, W.P. (1989). Cyanobacterial toxins in water. Water Science and Technology, 21(3): 1-13.
- Devlin, J.P., Edwards, O.E., Gorham, P.R., Hunter, N.R., Pike, R.K. and Stavric, B. (1977). Anatoxin-a, a toxic alkaloid from Anabaena flosaguae NRC-44h. Canadian Journal of Chemistry, 55: 1367-1371.
- Toxic water blooms in Dillenby, H.W. and Dehnel, M.K. (1960). Saskatchewan. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 83: 1151-1154.
- Environment Canada. (1990). Atmospheric Environment Service Monthly Meteorological Summary.
- Falconer, I.R., Runnegar, M.T.C., Buckley, T., Huyn, V.L. and Bradshaw, P. (1989). Using activated carbon to remove toxicity from drinking water containing cyanobacterial blooms. Journal of the American Water Works Association, 81(2): 102-105.

- Falconer, I.R., Beresford, A.M. and Runnegar, T.C. (1983a). Evidence of liver damage by toxin from a bloom of slue-green alga, Microcystis aeruginosa. Medical Journal of Australia, 1 511-514.
- Falconer, I.R., Runnegar, M.T.C. and Huye, V.L. (15-33b). Effectiveness of activated carbon in the removal of algai actin from potable water supplies: a pilot plant investigation Proceedings of the Australian Water and Wastewater Association Teach Federal Convention, 26: 1-7.
- Falconer, I.R., Jackson, A.R.B., Langley, J. and Runnegar, M.T. (1981). Liver pathology in mice in poisoning by the blue-green tiga Microcystis aeruginosa. Australian Journal of Biological Scierces, 34: 179-187.
- Fay, P. (1983). The Blue-Gens. The Institute of Biology's studies in biology no. 160, Edward Arnold (Publishers) Ltd., London, 2-3.
- Fedorak, P.M. and Huck, P.M. (1988). Microbial metabolism of cyanobacterial products: batch culture studies with applications to drinking water treatment. Water Research, 22(10): 1267-1277.
- Francis, G. (1878). Poisonous Australian lakes. Nature 18: 11-12.
- Liquid chromatographic Gathercole, P.S. and Thiel, P.G. (1987). determination of the cyanoginosins, toxins produced by the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa. Journal of Chromatography, 408: 435-440.
- Gentile, J.H. (1970). Blue-green and green algal toxins. In Microbial Toxins VII Algal and Fungal Toxins. Edited by Kadis, Ciegler and Ajl, 27-67.
- Gorham, P.R. and Carmichael W.W. (1988). Hazards of freshwater bluegreen algae (cyanobacteria). In Algae and Human Affairs. C.A. Lembi and J. R. Waaland. Cambridge University Press, 16: 403-431.
- Gorham, P.R., McNicholas and Allen, E.A.D. (1982). Problems encountered in searching for new strains of toxic planktonic cyanobacteria. South African Journal of Science, 78: 357-362.
- Gorham, P.R. (1964). Toxic algae. In Algae and Man. Edited by D.F. Jackson, Plenum Press, New York, 307-336.
- Gorham, P.R. (1960). Toxic waterblooms of blue-green algae. Canadian Veterinary Journal, 1(6): 235-245.

- Hanson, M.J. and Stefan, H.G. (1984). Side effects of 58 years of copper sulfate treatment of the Fairmont Lakes, Minnesota. <u>Water Resources</u> <u>Bulletin</u>, 20(6): 889-900.
- Harada. K.I., Matsuura, K. and Suzuki, M. (1988). Analysis and purification of toxic peptides from cyanobacteria by reversed-phase highperformance liquid chromatography. <u>Journal of Chromatography</u>, 448: 275-283.
- Hawkins, P.R., Runnegar, M.T.C., Jackson, A.R.B. and Falconer, I.R. (1985). Severe hepatotoxicity caused by the tropical cyanobacterium (bluegreen algae) *Cylindrospersis raciborskii* (Woloszynska) seenaya and subba raju isolated from a domestic water supply reservoir. <u>Applied</u> <u>and Environmental Microbiology</u>, 1292-1295.
- Hayes, K.P. and Burch, M.D. (1989). Odorous compounds associated with algal blooms in south Australian waters. <u>Water Research</u>, 23(1): 115-121.
- Hermansky, S.J., Stohs, S.J., Markin, R.S. and Murray, W.J. (1990). Hepatic lipid peroxidation, sulfhydryl status, and toxicity of the blue-green algal toxin microcystin LR in mice. <u>Journal of Toxicology and</u> <u>Environmental Health</u>, 31: 71-91.
- Herrmann, J. and Jüttner, F. (1977). Excretion products of algae. Identification of biogenic amines by gas-liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry of their trifluoroacetamides. <u>Analytical</u> <u>Biochemistry</u>, 78: 365-373.
- Himberg, K. (1989). Determination of anatoxin-a, the neurotoxin of Anabaena flos-aquae cyanobacterium, in algae and water by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography, 481: 358-362.
- Himberg, K., Keijola, A.M., Husvirto, L., Pyysalo, H. and Sivonen, K. (1989). The effect of water treatment processes on the removal of hepatotoxins from *Microcystis* and *Oscillatoria* cyanobacteria: a laboratory study. <u>Water Research</u>, 23(8): 979-984.
- Hoffman, J.R.H. (1976). Removal of *Microcystis* toxins in water purification processes. <u>Water S.A.</u>, 2(2): 58-60.
- Izaguirre, G., Hwang, C.J. and Krasner, S.W. (1983). Investigations into the source of 2-methylisoborneol in Lake Perris, California. <u>Proceedings</u> <u>American Water Works Association Water Quality Technology</u> <u>Conference</u>, Norfolk, Virginia, 319-334.

117

Izaguirre, G., Hwang, C.J., Krasner, S.W. and McGuire, M.J. (1982). Geosmin and 2-methylisoborneol from cyanobacteria in three water supply systems. <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u>, 43(3): 708-714.

Jackson, F. (1991). Personal communication, January 5.

- Jenkins, D., Medsker, L.L. and Thomas, J.F. (1967). Odorous compounds in natural waters. Some sulfur compounds associated with blue-green algae. <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u>, 1(9): 731-735.
- Jüttner, F. (1988). Biochemistry of biogenic off-flavour compounds in surface waters. <u>Water Science and Technology</u>, 20: 107-116.
- Jüttner, F., Hoflacher, B. and Wurster, K. (1986). Seasonal analysis of volatile organic biogenic substances (VOBS) in freshwater phytoplankton populations dominated by *Dinobryon*, *Microcystis* and *Aphanizomenon*. <u>Journal of Phycology</u>, 22: 169-175.
- Keijola, A.M., Himberg, K., Asala, A.L., Sivonen, K. and Hiisvirta, L. (1988). Removal of cyanobacterial toxins in water treatment processes: laboratory and pilot-scale experiments. <u>Toxicity Assessment</u>, 3: 643-656.
- Kennedy, J.B. and Neville, A.M. (1976). <u>Basic Statistical Methods for</u> <u>Engineers and Scientists</u>. 2nd ed. Harper and Row Publishers, New York, 490 pp.
- Kotak, B.G. (1990). Personal communication.
- Krishnamurthy, T., Carmichael, W.W. and Sarver, E.W. (1986). Toxic peptides from freshwater cyanobacteria (blue-green). I. Isolation, purification and characterization of peptides from *Microcystis* aeruginosa and Anabaena flos-aquae. <u>Toxicon</u>, 24(9): 865-873.
- Lien, R. (1990). Presentation at the <u>Farm Surface Water Quality and Supply</u> on the Prairies Conference. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, June 13, 14.
- Mahmood, N.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1986a). Paralytic shellfish poisons produced by the freshwater cyanobacterium *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* NH-5. <u>Toxicon</u>, 24(2): 175-186.
- Mahmood, N.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1986b). The pharmacology of anatoxin-a(s), a neurotoxin produced by the freshwater cyanobacterium Anabaena flos-aquae NRC 525-17. <u>Toxicon</u>, 24(5): 425-434.

- Mallevialle, J. and Suffet, I.H. (1987). <u>Identification and Treatment of Tastes</u> <u>and Odors in Drinking Water</u>. Cooperative Research Report of the American Water Works Association Research Foundation and Lyonnaise des Eaux. Denver, 292 pp.
- Matsumoto, A. and Tsuchiya, Y. (1988). Earthy-musty odor-producing cyanophytes isolated from five water areas in Tokyo. <u>Water Science</u> and Technology, 20: 179-183.
- Matsunaga, S., Moore, R.E. and Niemczura, W.P. (1989). Anatoxin-a(s), a potent anticholinesterase from *Anabaena flos-aquae*. <u>Journal of the American Chemical Society</u>, 111: 8021-8023.
- Mawhinney, T.P. and Madson, M.A. (1982). N-methyl-N-(tertbutyldimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide and related N-tertbutyldimethylsilyl amides as protective silyl donors. <u>lournal of</u> <u>Organic Chemistry</u>, 47: 3336-3339.
- McKnight, D.M., Chrisholm, S.W. and Harleman, D.R.F. (1983). CuSO₄ treatment of nuisance algal blooms in drinking water reservoirs. <u>Environmental Management</u>, 7(4): 311-320.
- Medsker, L.L., Jenkins, S. and Thomas, J.F. (1968). An earthy-smelling compound associated with blue-green algae and actinomycetes. <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u>, 2(6): 461-464.
- Menzel, D.W. and Corwin, N. (1965). The measurement of total phosphorus in sea-water based on liberation of organically bound fractions by persulfate oxidation. <u>Limnology and Oceanography</u>, 10: 280-282.
- Meriluoto, J.A.O. and Eriksson, J.E. (1988). Rapid analysis of peptide toxins in cyanobacteria. Journal of Chromatography, 438: 93-99.
- Mitchell, P. A. and Prepas, E.E. (1990). <u>Atlas of Alberta Lakes</u> Jniversity of Alberta Press, Edmonton, Alberta, 675 pp.
- Moore, R.E. (1981). Toxins from marine blue-green algae. In <u>The Water</u> <u>Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 15-23.
- Murphy, T.P., Prepas, E.E., Lim, J.T., Crosby, J.M. and Walty, D.T. (1990). Evaluation of calcium carbonate and calcium hydroxide treatment of prairie water dugouts. <u>Lake and Reservoir Management</u>, 6(1): 101-108.

119

- Østensvik, Ø., Skulberg, O.M. and Søli, N.E. (1981). Toxicity studies with blue-green algae from Norwegian inland waters. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 315-323.
- Palmer, C.M. (1980). Algae and Water Pollution: The Identification, Significance and Control of Algae in Water Supplies and in Polluted Water. Castie House Publications Ltd., London, 123 pp.
- Persson, P.E. (1983). Off-flavours in aquatic ecosystems An introduction. Water Science and Technology, 15: 1-11.
- Persson, P.E. (1980). Sensory properties and analysis of two muddy odour compounds, geosmin and 2-methylisoborneol, in water and fish. Water Research, 14: 1113-1118.
- Persson, P.E. and Jüttner, F. (1983). Threshold odour concentrations of odorous algal metabolites in lake water. Agua Fennica, 13: 3-7.
- Peterson, H. and Swanson, S. (1988). Physical, chemical and biological warfare against algae. In Proceedings 40th Annual Convention of the Western Canadian Water and Wastewater Association, Winnipeg, Manitoba, 153-161.
- Prepas. E.E., Murphy, T.P., Crosby, J. M., Walty, D.T., Lim, J.T., Babin, J. and Chambers, P.A. (1990). Reduction of phosphorus and chlorophyll α concentrations following CaCO3 and Ca(OH)2 additions to hypereutrophic Figure Eight Lake, Alberta. Environmental Science and Technology, 24: 1252-1258.
- Prepas, E.E. and Trew, D.O. (1983). Evaluation of the phosphorus chlorophyll relationship for lakes off the Precambrian Shield in western Canada. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 40: 27-35.
- Prescott, G.W. (1978). How to Know the Freshwater Phytoplankton 3rd Edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 293 pp.
- Repavich, W.M., Sonzogni, W.C., Standridge, J.H., Wedepohl, R.E. and Meisner, L.F. (1990). Cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) in Wisconsin waters: acute and chronic toxicity. Water Research, 24(2): 225-231.
- Riley, E.T. and Prepas, E.E. (1984). Role of internal phosphorus loading in two shallow, productive lakes in Alberta, Canada. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 41(6): 845-855.

- Rizet, M. and Mouchet, J. (1982). Influence of discharges from storage reservoirs on the tastes and odours appearing in the Seine and Marne rivers. <u>Water Science and Technology</u>, 14(4/5):43-55.
- Ross, M.M., Kidwell, D.A. and Callahan, J.H. (1989). Mass spectrometric analysis of anatoxin-a. Journal of Analytical Toxicology, 13: 317-321.
- Runnegar, M.T.C. and Falconer, I.R. (1982). The *in vivo* and *in vitro* biological effects of the peptide hepatotoxin from the blue-green alga Microcystis aeruginosa. South African Journal of Science, 78: 363-366.
- Santikarn, S., Williams, D.H., Smith, R.J., Hammond, S.J., Botes, D.P., Tuinman, A., Wessels, P.L., Viljoen, C.C. and Kruger, H. (1983). A partial structure for the toxin BE-4 from the blue-green algae, *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 12: 652-654.
- Sasner, J.J. Ikawa, M. and Foxall, T.L. (1981). Studies on aphantoxin from *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* in New Hampshire. In <u>The Water</u> <u>Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 389-430.
- Sävenhed, R., Borén, H. and Grimvall, A. (1985). Stripping analysis and chromatographic sniffing for the source and identification of odorous compounds in drinking water. Journal of Chromatography, 328: 219-231.
- Schwimmer, M. and Schwimmer, D. (1968). Medical aspects of phycology. In <u>Algae, Man and the Environment</u>, ed. D.F. Jackson, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse, New York, 279-358.
- Skulberg, O.M., Codd, G.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1984). Toxic blue-green algal blooms in Europe: a growing problem. <u>Ambio</u>, 13(4): 244-247.
- Slater, G.P. and Blok, V.C. (1983). Volatile compounds of the cyanophyceae A review. <u>Water Science and Technology</u>, 15: 181-190.
- Smith, R.A. and Lewis, D. (1987). A rapid analysis of water for anatoxin-a, the unstable toxic alkaloid from Anabaena flos-aquae, the stable nontoxic alkaloids left after bioreduction and a related amine which may be nature's precurser to anatoxin-a. <u>Veterinary and Human Toxicology</u>, 29(2): 153-154.
- Stevens, D.K., Krieger, R.I. (1988). Analysis of anatoxin-a by GC/ECD. Journal of Analytical Toxicology, 12: 126-131.

- Tabachek, J. and Yurkowski, M. (1976). Isolation and identification of bluegreen algae producing muddy odour metabolites, geosmin and 2methylisoborneol in saline lakes in Manitoba. <u>Journal of the Fisheries</u> <u>Research Board of Canada</u>. 33: 25-35.
- Theiss, W.C., Carmichael, W.W., Wyman, J. and Bruner, R. (1988). Blood pressure and hepatocellular affects of the cyclic heptapeptide toxin produced by the freshwater cyanobacterium (blue-green alga) *Microcystis aeruginosa* strain PCC-7820. <u>Toxicon</u>, 26: 603-613.
- Turner, P.C., Gammie, A.J., Hollinrake, K. and Codd, G.A. (1990). Pneumonia associated with contact with cyanobacteria. <u>British Medical</u> Journal, 300: 1440-1441.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (1984). Rules and Regulations; Method 625-Base/Neutrals and Acids. <u>Federal Register</u>, 49(209): 153-174.
- Wannemacher, R.W. (1989). <u>Chemical Stability and Laboratory Safety of</u> <u>Naturally Occurring Toxins.</u> U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, Fort Detrick, Frederick, MD.
- Whitaker, J., Barica, J., Kling, H. and Buckley, M. (1978). Efficacy of copper sulfate in the suppression of *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* blooms in prairie lakes. <u>Environmental Pollution</u>, 15: 185-194.
- Wong, S.H. and Hindin, E. (1982). Detecting an algal toxin by high pressure liquid chromatography. <u>Journal of the American Water Works</u> Association, 74: 528-529.

8.2 Additional References

- Alam, M. and Euler, K.L. (1981). Chemical studies on toxins from the bluegreen algae Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. In <u>The Water Environment:</u> <u>Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 405-414.
- Alam, M., Shimizu, Y., Ikawa, M. and Sasner, J.J. (1978). Reinvestigation of the toxins from the blue-green alga, *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*, by a high performance chromatographic method. <u>Iournal of</u> <u>Environmental Sciences and Health</u>, A13(7): 493-499.
- Astrachan, N.B., Archer, B.G. and Hilbelink, D.R. (1980). Evaluation of the subacute toxicity and teratogenicity of anatoxin-a. <u>Toxicon</u>, 18: 684-688.
- Aune, T. and Berg, K. (1986). Use of freshly prepared rat hepatocytes to study toxicity of blooms of the blue-green *Microcystis aeruginosa* and *Oscillatoria agardhi*. <u>Journal of Toxicology and Environmental</u> Health, 19: 325-336.
- Babin, J., Prepas, E.E., Murphy, T.P. and Hamilton, H.R. (1989). A test of the effect of lime on algal biomass and total phosphorus concentrations in Edmonton stormwater retention lakes. <u>Lake and Reservoir</u> <u>Management</u>, 5(1): 129-135.
- Barnett, R.H. (1984). Research on control of taste and odor producing algae in surface reservoirs. <u>Proceedings American Water Works Association</u> <u>Water Quality Technology Conference</u>, Denver, Colorado, 621-644.
- Barton, L.L, Foster, E.W. and Johnson, G.V. (1980). Viability changes in human neutrophils and monocytes following exposure to toxin extracted from *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*. <u>Canadian Journal of</u> <u>Microbiology</u>, 26: 272-274.
- Berg, K., Carmichael, W.W., Skulberg, O.M., Benestad, C. and Underdal, B. (1987). Investigation of a toxic water-bloom of *Microcystis aeruginosa* (Cyanophyceae) in Lake Akersvatn, Norway. <u>Hydrobiologia</u>, 144: 97-103.
- Berg, K. and Aune, T. (1987). Freshly prepared rat hepatocytes used in screening the toxicity of blue-green algal blooms. <u>Journal of Toxicology</u> and Environmental Health, 20: 187-197.

- Birk, I.M., Matern, U., Kaiser, I., Martin, C. and Weckesser, J. (1988). The peptide toxin of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa* PCC 7941 -Isolation and analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance and fast atom bombardment mass spectroscopy. <u>Journal of Chromatography</u>, 449: 423-431.
- Botes, D.P. (1986). Cyanoginosins isolation and structure. <u>Mycotoxins and</u> <u>Phycotoxins</u> (A Collection of Invited Papers Presented at the Sixth International IUPAC Symposium on Mycotoxins and Phycotoxins), Edited by P.S. Steyn and R. Vleggar, 22-25.
- Brooks, W.P. and Codd, G.A. (1986). Extraction and purification of toxic peptides from natural blooms and laboratory isolates of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*. <u>Letters in Applied</u> Microbiology, 2: 1-3.
- Campbell, H.F., Edwards, E.E. and Kolt, R. (1977). Synthesis of nor-anaotoxina and anatoxin-a. <u>Canadian Journal of Chemistry</u>, 55: 1372-1379.
- Carmichael, W.W. (1988). Naming of cyclic heptapeptide toxins of cyanobacteria (blue-green algae). <u>Toxicon</u>, 26(11): 971-973.
- Carmichael, W.W., Dabholkar, A.S., Eschedor, J.E., Krejsa, B.A. and Mahmood, N.A. (1987). Freshwater cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) toxins: isolation and characterization. <u>Final report for United States</u> <u>Army Medical Research and Development Command</u>, 88pp.
- Carmichael, W.W. (1986). Algal Toxins. <u>Advances in Botanical Research</u>, 12: 47-101.
- Carmichael, W.W., Jones, C.L.A., Mahmood, N.A. and Theiss, W.C. (1985). Algal toxins and water-based diseases. <u>CRC Critical Reviews in</u> Environmental Control, 15(3): 275-312.
- Carmichael, W.W. (1981). Freshwater blue-green algae (Cyanobacteria) toxins - a review. In <u>The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 1-13.
- Carmichael W.W. and Bent, P.E. (1981). The directory to toxic blue-green algae (cyanobacteria) literature. In <u>The Water Environment: Algal</u> <u>Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 467-479.
- Clare, L.G. and Hopson, N.E. (1975). Algae problems in eastern Lake Erie. Journal American Water Works Association, March: 131-134.

124

- Codd, G.A. and Bell, S.G. (1985). Eutrophication and toxic cyanobacteria in freshwaters. Water Pollution Control, 84: 225-232.
- Codd, G.A. (1984). Toxins of freshwater cyanobacteria. Microbiological Sciences, 1(2): 48-52.
- Codd, G.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1982). Toxicity of a clonal isolate of the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa from Great Britain. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 13: 409-411.
- Dale, B., Yentsch, C.M. and Hurst, J.W. (1978). Toxicity in resting cysts of the red-tide dinoflagellate Gonyaulax excavata from deeper water coastal sediments. Science, 201: 1223-1225.
- Ecker, M.M., Foxall, T.L. and Sasner, J.J. Jr. (1981). Morphology of toxic versus non-toxic strains of Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 113-126.
- Eloff, J.N. (1981). Autecological studies on Microcystis. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 71-96.
- Eloff, I.N. and Van der Westhuizen, A.J. (1981). Toxicological studies on Microcystis. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 343-363.
- Eriksson, J.E., Meriluoto, J.A.O., Kujari, H.P. and Skuberg, O.M. (1988). A comparison of toxins isolated from the cyanobacteria Oscillatoria agardhii and Microcystis aeruginosa. Comparative Biochemistry and <u>Physiology</u>, 89C(2): 207-210.
- Eriksson, J.E., Meriluto, J.A.O., Kujari, H.F., Osterlund, K., Fagerlund, K. and Hallbom, L. (1988). Preliminary characterization of a toxin isolated from the cyanobacterium Nodularia Spumigena. Toxicon, 26(2): 161-166.
- Eriksson, J.E., Hagerstrand, H. and Isoma, B. (1987). Cell selective cytotoxicity of a peptide from the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa. Biochemica et Biophysica Acta, 930: 304-310.
- Falconer, I.R. and Buckley, T.H. (1989). Tumour promotion by Microcystis sp., a blue-green algae occurring in water supplies. Medical Journal of Australia, 1: 351.

- Foxall, T.L. and Sasner, J.J. Jr. (1981). Effects of a hepatic toxin from the cyanophyte Microcystis aeruginosa. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 365-387.
- Galey, F.D., Beasley, V.R., Carmichael, W.W., Kleppe, G., Hooser, S.B., Haschek, W.M. (1987). Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa) hepatotoxicosis in dairy cows. Journal of Veterinary Research, 48(9): 1415-1420.
- Gaufin, A.R. (1964). Taste and odor production in reservoirs by blue-green algae. Journal of the American Water Works Association, 56(10): 1345-1350.
- Gentile, J.H. and Maloney, T.E. (1968). Toxicity and environmental requirements of a strain of Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. (L.) Ralphs. Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 15: 165-173.
- Gerba, C.P. and Goyal, S.M. (1981). Potential for groundwater contamination by algal endotoxins. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 303-314.
- Gershey, R.M., Neve, R.A., Musgrave, D.L. and Reichardt, P.B. (1977). A colorimetric method for determination of saxitoxin. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 34: 559-563
- Gorham, P.R. and Carmichael, W.W. (1979). Phycotoxins from blue-green algae. Pure and Applied Chemistry, 52: 165-174.
- Gorham, P.R., McLachlan, J., Hammer, U.T. and Kim, W.K. (1964). Isolation and culture of toxic strains of Anabaena flos-aquae (lyngb.) de Breb. Verh. Internationale Vereinigung fuer Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie, 15: 796-804.
- Gregson, R.P. and Lohr, R.R. (1983). Isolation of peptide hepatotoxins from the blue-green algae Microcystis aeruginosa. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, 74C(2): 413-417.
- Harada, K.I., Matsuura, K., Suzuki, M., Watanabe, M.F., Oishi, S., Dahlem, A.M., Beasley, V.R. and Carmichael, W.W. (1990). Isolation and characterization of the minor components associated with microcystins LR and RR in the cyanobacterium (blue-green algae). Toxicon, 28(1): 55-64.

- Harada, K.I., Kimura, Y., Ogawa, K., Suzuki, M., Dahlem, A. M., Beasley, V.R.¹²⁷ and Carmichael, W.W. (1989). A new procedure for the analysis and purification of naturally occurring anatoxin-a from the blue-green alga Anabaena flos-aquae. <u>Toxicon</u>, 27(12): 1289-1296.
- Harada, K.I., Suzuki, M., Dahlem, A.M., Beasley, V.R., Carmichael, W.W. and Rinehart, K.L. (1987). Improved method for purification of toxic peptides produced by cyanobacteria. Toxicon, 26(5): 433-439.
- Hauman J.H. (1981). Is a plasmid(s) involved in the toxicity of Microcystis aeruginosa? In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 97-102.
- Ikawa, M., Wegener, K., Foxall, T.L., Sasner, J.J., Carter, P.W. and Shoptaugh, N.H. (1981). Studies on the fluorometric determination of the toxins of the blue-green alga Aphanizomenon flos-aquae. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 415-425.
- Jackim, E. and Gentile, J. (1968). Toxins of a blue-green alga: Similarity to saxitoxin. Science, 22: 915- 916.
- Juday, E.R., Keller, E.J., Horpestad, A., Bahls, L.L. and Glasser, S. (1981). A toxic bloom of Anabaena flos-aquae in Hebgen Reservoir Montana in 1977. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 103-112.
- Keleti, G. and Sykora, J.L. (1981). Iroduction and properties of cyanobacterial endotoxins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 43: 104-109.
- Keleti, G., Sykora, J.L., Maiolie, L.A., Doerfler, D.L. and Campbell, I.M. (1981). Isolation and characterization of endotoxin from cyanobacteria (bluegreen algae). In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 447-464.
- Preparation of anti-Kfir, R., Johannsen, E. and Botes, D.P. (1986). In Micotoxins and cyanoginosin-LA monoclonal antibody. Phycotoxins (A Collection of Invited Papera presented at the Sixth International IUPAC Symposium on Micotoxins and Phycotoxins), Edited by P.S. Steyn and R. Vleggar, 377-38.
- Kirpenko, Y.A., Sirenko, L.A. and Kirpenko, N.I. (1981). Some aspects concerning remote after-effects of blue-green algae toxin impact on warm-blooded animals. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 257-269.
- Koskinen, A.M.P. and Rapoport, H. (1985). Synthetic and conformational studies on anatoxin-a: A potent acetylcholine agonist. <u>Journal of Medicinal Chemistry</u>, 28: 1301-1309.
- Kruger, G.H.J. and Eloff, J.N. (1981). The effect of physico-chemical factors on growth relevant to the mass culture of axenic *Microcysitis*. In <u>The</u> <u>Water_Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 193-222.
- Lam, C.W.Y. and Silvester, W.B. (1979). Growth interactions among bluegreen (Anabaena oscillarioides, Microcystis aeruginosa) and green (chlorella sp.) algae. <u>Hydrobiologia</u>, 63(2): 135-143.
- Lampert, W. (1982). Further studies on the inhibitory effect of the toxic bluegreen *Microcystis aeruginosa* on the filtering rate of zooplankton. <u>Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie</u>, 95(1/4): 207-220.
- Lang, N.J. (1968). Ultrastructure of the blue-green algae. In <u>Algae</u>, <u>Man and</u> <u>the Environment</u>, ed. D.F. Jackson, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse, New York, 235-248.
- Lewin, R.A. (1968). Biochemistry and physiology of algae: taxonomic and phylogenetic considerations. *In Algae , Man and the Environment, ed.* D.F. Jackson, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse, New York, 15-25.
- Lindholm, T., Eriksson, J.E. and Meriluto, J.A.O. (1989). Toxic cyanobacteria and water quality problems - examples from a eutrophic lake on Aland, South West Finland. <u>Water Research</u>, 23(4): 481-486.
- Mahmood, N.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1987). Anatoxin-a(s), and anticholinesterase from the cyanobacterium Anabaena flos-aquae NRC 525-17. Toxicon, 25(11): 1221-1227.
- Maruyama, J., Noguchi, T., Matsunaga, S. and Hashimoto, K. (1984). Fast atom bombardment and secondary Ion-mass spectrometry of paralytic shellfish poisons and tetrodotoxin. <u>Agricultural Biological Chemistry</u>, 48(11): 2783-2788.
- May, V. (1981). The occurrence of toxic cyanophyte blooms in Australia. In <u>The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health.</u> Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 127-142.

- Miura, G.A., Robinson, N.A., Lawrence, W.B. and Pace, J.G. (1990). Hepatotoxicity of microcystin LR in fed and fasted rats. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 20 April. 29 pp.
- Möhren, S. and Jüttner, F. (1983). Odorous compounds of different strains of Anabaena and Nostoc (cyanobacteria). Water Science and Technology, 15: 221-228.
- Moore, R.E. (1984). Public health and toxins from marine blue-green algae. In Seafood Toxins. Edited by E.P. Ragelis. American Chemical Society Symposium Series 262, Washington D.C., 369-376.
- Naseem, S.M., Hines, H.B. and Creasia, D.A. (1990). Inhibition of microcystin-induced release of cyclooxygenase products from rat hepatocytes by anti-inflammatory steroids. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 21 Feb. 23 pp.
- Naseem, S.M., Mereish, K.A., Solow, R. and Hines, H. (1990). Toxin induced activation of rat hepatocyte prostoglandin synthesis and phospholipid metabolism. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 25 April. 22 pp.
- Needler, A.B. (1949). Paralytic shellfish poisoning and Goniaulax tamarensis. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 7(8): 590-504.
- Ohtake, A., Shirai, M., Aida, T., Mori, N., Harada, K.I., Matsuura, K., Suzuki, M. and Nanao, M. (1989). Toxicity of Microcystis species isolated from natural blooms and purification of the toxin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 55(2): 3202-3207.
- Pace, I.G., Robinson, B.A., Muira, G.A., Matson, C.F. and Geisbert, T.W. (1990). Toxicity and kinetics of (3H) microcystin LR in isolated perfused rat livers. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 20 March. 40 pp.
- Peterson, H. (1989). Managing dugouts for improved water quality. In Proceedings 10th Western Nutrition Conference, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan.
- Poon, G.K., Priestley, Hunt, S.M., Fawell, J.K. and Codd, G.A. (1987). Purification procedure for peptide toxins from the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa involving high-performance thin-layer chromatography. Journal of Chromatography, 387: 551-555.

- Prakash, A. (1963). Source of paralytic shellfish toxin in the Bay of Fundy. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 20(4): 983-996.
- Riley, E.T. and Prepas, E.E. (1985). Comparison of the phosphoruschlorophyll relationships in mixed and stratified lakes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 42: 831-835.
- Robinson, N.A., Pace, J.G., Matson, C.F., Miura, G.A. and Lawrence, W.B. (1990). Toxicokinetics of (3H) microcystin LR in mice. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 19 March. 35pp.
- Runnegar, M.T.C. and Falconer, I.R. (1988). Toxicity of the cyanobacterium Nodularia spurnigen Mertens. Toxicon, 26(2): 143-15.
- Runnegar, M.T.C. and Falconer, I.R. (1981). Isolation, characterization and pathology of the toxin from the blue-green alga Microcystis aeruginosa. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 325-342.
- Sanchez, I. and Lee, G.F. (1978). Environmental chemistry of copper in Lake Monona, Wisconsin. <u>Water Research</u>, 12: 899-903.
- Sardina, F.J., Howard, M.H., Koskinen, A.M.P. and Rapoport, H. (1989). Chirospecific synthesis of nitrogen and side chain modified analogues of (+)-anatoxin. Journal of Organic Chemistry. 54: 4654-4660.
- Sasner, J.J., Ikawa, M. and Foxall, T.L. (1984). Studies on Aphanizomenon and Microcystis toxins. In Seafood Toxins. Edited by E.P. Ragelis. American Chemical Society Symposium Series 262, Washington D.C., 391-406.
- Sawer, P.J., Gentile, J.H. and Sasner, J.J. (1968). Demonstration of a toxin from Aphanizomenon flos-aquae (L.) Ralfs. Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 14: 1199-1204.
- Scott, W.E. (1991). Occurrence and significance of toxic cyanobacteria in southern Africa. Water Science and Technology, 23:175-180.
- Scott, W.E., Barlow, D.J. and Hauman, J.H. (1981). Studies on the ecology growth and physiology of toxic Microcystis aeruginosa in South Africa. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 49-69.

- Siegelman, H.W., Adams, W.H., Stoner, R.D. and Slatkin, D.N. (1984).¹³¹ Toxins of Microcystis aeruginosa and their hematological and histopathological effects. In Seafood Toxins. Edited by E.P. Ragelis. American Chemical Society Symposium Series 262, Washington D.C., 407-413.
- Formation and mode of action of algal toxins. Shilo, M. (1967). Bacteriological Reviews, 31(3): 180-193.
- Shoptaugh, N.H., Ikawa, M., Foxall, T.L., Sasner, J.J. (1981). A fluorometric technique for the detection and determination of paralytic shellfish poisons. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 427-435.
- Sivonen, K., Niemela, S.I., Niemi, R.M., Lepisto, L., Luoma, T.H. and Rasanen, L.A. (1990). Toxic cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) in Finnish fresh and coastal waters. Hydrobiologia, 190: 267-275.
- Sivonen, K., Kononen, K., Carmichael, W.W., Dahlem, A.M., Rinehart, K.L., Kiviranta, J. and Niemela, S.I. (1989). Occurrence of the hepatotoxic cyanobacterium Nodularia spumigena in the Baltic Sea and structure of the toxin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 55(8): 2207-2231.
- Sivonen, K., Himberg, K., Luukkainen, R., Niemela, S.I., Poon, G.K. and Codd, G.A. (1989). Preliminary characterization of neurotoxic cyanobacteria blooms and strains from Finland. Toxicity Assessment, 4: 267-275.
- Sladeckova, A. and Sladecek, V. (1968). Algicides friends or foes? In Algae, Man and the Environment, ed. D.F. Jackson, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse, New York, 441-457.
- Slater, D.N., Stoner, R.D., Adams, W.H., Kycia, J.H. and Siegelman, H.W. (1983). Atypical pulmonary thrombosis caused by a toxic cyanob cterial peptide. <u>Science</u>, 24: 1383-1385.
- Slater, G.P. and Blok, V.C. (1983a). Volatile compounds of the cyanophyceae a review. Water Science and Technology, 15: 181-190.
- Slater, G.P. and Blok, V.C. (1983b). Isolation and identification of odorous compounds from a lake subject to cyanobacterial blooms. Water Science and Technology, 15: 229-240.

- Solow. R. (1990). Effect of microcystin LR on cultured rat endothelial cells. Interim report for U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases, 26 Feb. 24 pp.
- Soltero, R.A. and Nichols, D.G. (1981). The recent blue-green algal blooms of Long Lake, Washington. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 143-159.
- Sugiura, N., Inamori, Y., Sudo, R., Ouchiyama, T. and Miyoshi, Y. (1990). Degradation of blue-green alga, Microcystis aeruginosa by flagellata, Monas guttula. Environmental Technology, 11: 739-746.
- Sykora, J.L. and Keleti, G. (1981). Cyanobacteria and endotoxins in drinking water supplies. In The Water Environment: Algal Toxins and Health. Edited by W.W. Carmichael. Plenum Publishing Corporation, 285-301.
- Van der Westhuizen, A.J., Eloff, J.N. and Kruger, G.H. (1986). Effect of temperature and light (fluence rate) on the composition of the toxin of the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa (UV-006). Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie, 108(2): 145-154.
- Wannemacher, R.W., Bunner, D.L. and Dinterman, R.E. (1989). Inactivation of low molecular weight agents of biological origin. Proceedings for the Symposium on Agents of Biological Origins. John Hopkins University Laurel, Maryland, March 21-23, 115-122.
- Watanabe, M.F., Harada, K.I., Matsuura, K., Watanabe, M. and Suzuki, M. (1989). Heptapeptide toxin production during the batch culture of two Microcystis species (cyanobacteria). Journal of Applied Physiology, 1: 161-165.
- White, K.D., Sphon, J.A. (1986). Fast atom bombardment mass spectrometry of 12 marine toxins isolated from Protogonyaulax.. Analytical <u>Chemistry</u>, 25: 562-565.
- Wilkins, D. and Hart, L. (1990). Dirty dugouts need more than copper sulfate. Country Guide, May, 32-33.
- Wicks, R.J. and Thiel, P.G. (1990). Environmental factors affecting the production of peptide toxins in floating scums of the cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa in a hypertrophic African reservoir. Environmental Science and Technology, 24(9): 1413-1418.

- Wurtsbaugh, W.A. and Horne, A. J. (1983). Iron in eutrophic Clear Lake, California: Its importance for algal nitrogen fixation and growth. <u>Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences</u>, 40: 1419-1429.
- Yates, I.E. and Porter, J. K. (1982). Bacterial bioluminescence as a bioassay for mycotoxins. <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u>, 44(3): 1072-1075.

APPENDIX

DECONTAMINATION AND DISPOSAL

Decontamination Procedure

Inactivation of cyanobacterial toxins is achieved through exposure to strong oxidizing agents such as 1.5% NaOCl (0.002 M) for 30 min. Spills of solutions of cyanobacterial toxins should be adsorbed with spill pillows or paper towels, and the contaminated materials should be soaked in 1.5% NaOCl for at least 30 min. The site of the spill should be thoroughly washed with NaOCl and the area should then be washed with soap or detergent and plenty of water. All contaminated glassware must be soaked in NaOCl prior to washing and all working surfaces must be washed with NaOCl daily.

Disposal Procedures

The waste from these experiments is anticipated to be small. Solutions of the cyanobacterial toxins must be exposed to 1.5% NaOCl for at least 30 min prior to disposal.

ANALYTICAL DATA

136

Table A7 Control Batch Studies

Study #1 Control 7.9 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(Hour)	(L)	-	(mg/L)	(ppm)		(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10	8.15	4.50	16.6	31.88	60	0.043
1	9.3	8.19	4.35	16.7	96.08	1468	0.041
2	8.6	8.23	4.35	16.1	88.81	334	0.038
4	7.9	8.23	4.00	17.2	42.28	76	0.035
8	7.2	8.20	3.00	16.7	18.91	61	0.032
24	6.5	7.86	1.80	19.6	68.26	240	0.03
48	5.8	7.39	1.00	32.2	84.45	728	0.091
72	5.1	7.26	0.90	37.8	92.45	734	0.145
240	4.7	7.95	0.30	49.9	825.67	473	0.044

Study #2 Control 14.78 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)	(L)	-	(mg/Ľ)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.63	3.10	39.2	407.61	166	0.051
1.167	10	6.98	1.80	71.2	426.27	1186	0.369
2.083	9.3	6.90	1.05	91.2	388.50	1695	0.553
3	8.6	6.81	0.90	97.9	380.87	1464	0.332
4	7.9	6.70	0.60	98.9	362.05	1500	0.226
5	7.2	6.65	0.50	106.1	262.18	1726	0.187
7	6.5	6.70	0.35	103.3	337.67	1813	0.148
10	5.8	6.71	0.30	75.9	305.59	1984	0.119

Study #3 Control 18.79 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)	(L)	•	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.30	2.25	37.7	291.97	379	0.055
1	10	6.72	1.90	73.4	327.01	1195	0.39
2	9.3	6.39	1.25	103.9	392.19	1713	0.625
3.042	8.6	6.40	1.00	120.1	484.22	1954	N/A
4.042	7.9	6.47	0.90	120.4	485.73	2807	0.389
5	7.2	6.48	0.85	120.7	506.21	2102	0.354
6	6.5	6.55	0.75	117.1	514.85	2150	0.297
8	5.8	6.69	0.40	118.1	536.41	2183	0.214
10	5.1	6.75	0.30	105.2	582.16	2167	0.243

.

Table A2 Copper Sulfate Batch Studies

Study #1 2 mg/L CuSO4 added to 8.3 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	T.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(Hour)	(L)	F	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10	8.15	4.50	16.12	55.97	467	0.043
1	93	8.01	3.25	23.23	124.97	128	0.041
2	8.6	7.99	3.00	18.17	106.07	141	0.038
Ã	7.9	7.98	2.80	18.34	64.91	287	0.035
8	7.2	7.98	2.30	21.16	53.79	374	0.137
24	6.5	7.90	1.20	42.07	507.02	1013	1.475
48	5.8	7.75	0.90	54.24	542.05	1224	3.409
72	5.1	7.20	0.80	72.95	607.26	1333	3.599
240	4.7	7.9	0.3	80.68	930.15	2018	0.039

Study #2 2 mg/L CuSO4 added to 15.32 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)	(L)	•	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.61	3.05	32.6	459.75	214	0.052
1.167	10	7.10	1.30	95.3	406.23	1161	1.466
2.083	9.3	6.90	1.10	N/A	487.57	2152	2.006
3	8.6	6.73	1.00	119.3	777.31	1353	1.504
4	7.9	6.51	0.95	96.4	743.99	1568	1.721
5	72	6.46	0.90	109.2	806.75	1544	1.036
7	6.5	6.50	0.80	110.2	733.92	1566	0.405
10	5.8	6.60	0.65	95.8	742.08	1932	0.359

Study #3 2 mg/L CuSO4 added to15.76 g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)		•	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.25	2.00	38.6	332.28	379	0.069
1	10	6.79	1.80	81.8	453.46	1069	0.791
2	9.3	6.42	1.15	104.7	591.20	1342	1.452
3.042	8.6	6.43	1.10	114.6	608.25	1456	N/A
4.042	7.9	6.48	1.15	112.5	650.58	2089	1.477
5	7.2	6.55	0.95	122.0	673.42	1696	1.226
6	6.5	6.61	0.90	109.2	678.30	1510	1.243
8	5.8	6.72	0.50	95.8	692.42	1619	0.519
10	5.1	6.73	0.40	108.3	693.09	2178	0.227

Table A3 Lime Batch Studies

Study #1 100 mg/L Ca(OH)2 added to 8.1g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	PH	D.O.	T.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(Hour)	(L)	-	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L, in aq.)
0	10	8.17	4.50	15.1	20.63	59	0
1	9.3	9.88	3.30	18.7	468.64	124	0
2	8.6	9.85	3.20	19.2	391.43	182	0
4	7.9	9.81	2.85	19.0	245.19	197	0
8	7.2	9.67	2.30	22.3	156.34	207	0.06
24	6.5	9.16	1.70	37.9	613.68	749	0.233
48	5.8	8.46	1.00	40.8	582.51	724	0.178
72	5.1	8.08	0.90	49.0	425.60	748	0.062
10	4.7	8.02	0.30	50.3	559.15	263	0.067

Study #2 100mg/L Ca(OH)2 added to15.98g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pH	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)	(L)	- ,	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.60	3.00	37.8	408.10	1596	0.059
1.167	10	8.47	1.60	69.7	451.02	842	0.202
2.083	9.3	7.98	1.10	81.4	482.96	1396	0.235
3	8.6	7.64	1.00	99.0	558.03	1214	0.212
4	7.9	7.40	0.95	91.5	531.70	1462	0.151
5	7.2	7.18	0.90	118.4	352.44	1375	0.145
7	6.5	7.08	0.80	118.7	516.58 [·]	1514	0.117
10	5.8	7.05	0.70	118.2	331.18	1396	0.088

Study #3 100 mg/L Ca(OH)2 added to16.25g total biomass

Time	Total Volume	pН	D.O.	D.O.C.	Chlor-a	T.D.P.	Microcystin LR
(days)	(L)	-	(mg/L)	(ppm)	(µg/Ľ)	(µg/L)	(mg in aqueous)
0	10.7	7.25	2.05	43.5	306.19	379	0.085
1	10	8.88	1.70	76.1	369.14	972	0.111
2	9.3	8.18	1.00	87.5	450.73	1044	0.146
3.042	8.6	7.97	0.95	87.2	483.71	1066	N/A
4.042	7.9	7.48	0.90	115.0	568.49	2011	0.155
5	7.2	7.40	0.80	118.1	543.00	1426	0.152
6	6.5	7.31	0.60	135.0	593.62	1524	0.163
8	5.8	7.20	0.35	141.0	738.48	1504	0.156
10	5.1	7.11	0.30	154.5	679.92	2241	0.098

Femperature °C high 20.7 17.3 13.5 17.1 21.5 16.0	Precipitation mm tr 8.6 75.6	Windspeed km/h 10.2 13.6 27.6 11.1	hours 6.9 0.0 0.0
20.7 17.3 13.5 17.1 21.5	8.6	13.6 27.6	0.0 0.0
13.5 17.1 21.5		27.6	0.0
13.5 17.1 21.5	75.6	i i	
17.1 21.5		11.1	44 2 1
21.5			11.3
16.0		20.7	13.9
	32.6	15.4	0.0
21.8		7.7	12.8
24.7		5.4	14.8
24.6	0.4	12.3	12.8
25.9		4.7	13.2
27.4		14.5	15.4
30.7	tr	13.0	14.2
25.1		8.4	14.5
22.2		16.4	14.7
23.1		3.9	9.0
18.8	22.6	9.3	5.3
17.9	0.3	13.8	11.9
17.8	× .	8.2	12.4
16.6	4.6	7.3	5.9
18.7	tr	4.0	12.6
22.2		4.8	15.1
25.4	0.4	10.3	14.2
26.6		6.8	12.9
22.0		6.0	6.0
25.2	tr	7.9	7.1
20.2	2.8	2.2	0.3
24.7		14.4	10.7
21.8	1.4	8.9	15.0
24.8	tr	7.2	14.1
28.4		10.3	13.0
27.6		7.2	12.8
	21.8 24.7 24.6 25.9 27.4 30.7 25.1 22.2 23.1 18.8 17.9 17.8 16.6 18.7 22.2 25.4 26.6 22.0 25.2 20.2 24.7 21.8 24.8 24.8 28.4	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21.8 7.7 24.7 5.4 24.6 0.4 22.3 4.7 25.9 4.7 27.4 14.5 30.7 tr 25.1 8.4 22.2 16.4 23.1 3.9 18.8 22.6 9.3 13.8 17.9 0.3 17.9 0.3 17.8 8.2 16.6 4.6 7.7 17.8 8.2 16.6 4.6 7.3 18.7 tr 22.2 4.8 25.4 0.4 22.2 4.8 25.4 0.4 20.2 2.8 22.0 6.0 25.2 tr 7.9 20.2 2.8 $2.4.7$ 14.4 21.8 1.4 8.9 24.8 tr 7.2 28.4 10.3

Table A4Central Alberta Weather, Edmonton International Airport.(adapted from: Environment Canada 1990)

Table A4 Continued.

Aug 1 1990 Aug 2 1990 Aug 3 1990 Aug 4 1990	Temperature °C high 24.3 20.0 23.8 26.6	mm 3.8	Windspeed km/h 6.8 11.1	14.1
Ang 2 1990 Aug 3 1990	20.0 23.8	3.8		
Aug 3 1990	23.8	3.8	11.1	
1 ¥ 1				11.4
Aug 4 1990	26.6		6.3	14.0
[1 M g + 1 / / /	20.0		3.8	14.4
Aug 5 1990	30.7		6.3	14.5
Aug 6 1990	33.0		10.4	11.9
Aug 7 1990	25.5		5.8	12.9
Aug 8 1990	24.4	tr	4.3	13.4
Aug 9 1990	26.7	1.2	6.8	11.4
Aug 10 1990	27.6		7.3	13.5
Aug 11 1990	27.3		5.7	12.8
Aug 12 1990	29.4		6.6	12.8
Aug 13 1990	22.2		10.1	7.2
Aug 14 1990	25.2	0.2	13.1	5.2
Aug 15 1990	24.3	tr	11.2	9.0
Aug 16 1990	17.0	23.0	15.2	0.3
Aug 17 1990	17.3	0.2	13.1	0.3
Aug 18 1990	17.5	1.6	14.0	2.0
Aug 19 1990	24.4		6.4	10.8
Aug 20 1990	27.8		16.8	13.5
Aug 21 1990	28.0		8.5	7.0
Aug 22 1990	21.5	2.0	11.8	2.3
Aug 23 1990	14.7	0.4	15.9	1.1
Aug 24 1990	11.8		5.7	2.4
Aug 25 1990	14.2	0.4	7.1	0.2
Aug 26 1990	13.7	4.4	6.2	3.1
Aug 27 1990	21.1		12.2	12.2
Aug 28 1990	25.2		8.8	12.9
Aug 29 1990	25.0		10.3	13.0
Aug 30 1990	20.6	8.4	23.8	0.2
Aug 31 1990	11.9	18.6	11.9	0.0

Table A4 Concluded.

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation	Average	Bright Sun
	high	mm	Windspeed km/h	hours
Sept 1 1990	20.5		9.1	10.9
Sept 2 1990	19.2		10.7	11.7
Sept 3 1990	18.3	1.4	9.7	11.8
Sept 4 1990	23.6		11.7	12.2
Sept 5 1990	22.4		8.8	11.5
Sept 6 1990	23.8		11.0	11.0
Sept 7 1990	25.4	tr	15.8	10.6
Sept 8 1990	15.0	1.2	11.0	3.0
Sept 9 1990	21.9		9.7	9.9
Sept 10 1990	25.4		11.1	11.3
Sept 11 1990			12.8	10.5
Sept 12 1990		0.6	19.4	3.0
Sept 13 1990			13.6	10.5
Sept 14 1990			12.4	10.7
Sept 15 1990			22.6	10.7
Sept 16 1990		0.8	23.6	5.6
Sept 17 1990		tr	19.8	10.7
Sept 18 1990	22.6		10.4	10.2
Sept 19 1990	17.1	0.2	17.9	7.9
Sept 20 1990	16.8	tr	8.5	9.2
Sept 21 1990	16.6	tr	15.7	10.3
Sept 22 1990			15.8	10.0
Sept 23 1990			13.5	10.1
Sept 24 1990			13.7	10.1
Sept 25 1990			12.3	8.6
Sept 26 1990			7.7	7.1
Sept 27 1990			79	7.9
Sept 28 1990			22.9	7.1
Sept 29 1990			14.5	6.6
Sept 30 1990			11.2	9.7
Oct 1 1990	15.1		13.9	0.4
Oct 2 1990	11.5	tr	27.8	7.3
Oct 3 1990	9.3	tr	18.9	7.4
Oct 4 1990	1.2	6.6 (snow)	11.0	0.0

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
	high (Camrose)	(Camrose)	(Dried Meat Lake)
July 1 1990	23.0		
July 2 1990	20.5	45.2	
July 3 1990	12.0	31.8	
July 4 1990	16.5		
July 5 1990	21.0	9.8	
July 6 1990	14.5	38.4	
July 7 1990	21.5		
July 8 1990	24.5		
July 9 1990	24.0	0.8	
July 10 1990	26.0		
July 11 1990	27.0		
July 12 1990	30.5		
July 13 1990	24.5		
July 14 1990	2		
July 15 1990	24 .0	0.4	
July 16 1990	18.5	24.2	
July 17 1990	17.5		
July 18 1990	17.5		
July 19 1990	17.5	tr	
July 20 1990	17.5		
July 21 1990	21.5		
July 22 1990	24.5		
July 23 1990	27.0		
July 24 1990	23.0	0.6	
July 25 1990	25.5	2.0	
July 26 1990	19.0	4.2	
July 27 1990	24.5		
July 28 1990	22.5		
July 29 1990	23.0		
July 30 1990	27.5		
July 31 1990	27.5		1
			Continued

Table A5 Camrose Area Weather (adapted from: Environment Canada, unpub. data 1990) and Driedmeat Lake Water Temperature

Tabel A5 Continued.

highCamrose)Camrose)(Dried Meat Lake)Aug 1 19%25 6.8 22.0 Aug 2 1990 21.0 23.0 40.3 Aug 3 1990 23.0 40.4 41.990 Aug 4 1990 26.5 40.4 40.4 Aug 5 1990 30.0 40.4 40.4 Aug 5 1990 32.0 0.4 40.4 Aug 6 1990 25.0 0.4 40.4 Aug 8 1990 24.5 24.0 40.4 Aug 10 1990 27.5 24.0 24.0 Aug 11 1990 27.5 24.0 44.4 Aug 13 1990 23.5 0.6 4.44 Aug 15 1990 24.5 4.4 4.4 Aug 16 1990 15.0 5.4 21.5 Aug 17 1990 15.5 0.2 4.4 Aug 17 1990 15.5 0.2 4.4 Aug 18 1990 15.0 10.6 18.0 Aug 21 1990 24.5 4.4 4.4 Aug 21 1990 24.5 4.4 4.4 Aug 21 1990 15.5 0.2 4.4 Aug 21 1990 12.5 1.6 18.0 Aug 22 1990 12.5 0.8 4.4 Aug 23 1990 12.5 0.8 4.4 Aug 25 1990 13.0 10.0 4.4 Aug 25 1990 13.0 10.0 4.4 Aug 25 1990 13.0 10.4 4.4 Aug 29 1990 25.0 4.4 4.4 Aug 29 1990 25.0 4.4 4.4 </th <th>Durge</th> <th>Temperature °C</th> <th>Precipitation mm</th> <th>Water Temp. °C</th>	Durge	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
Aug 1 19:0ZiAugAug 2 199021.0Aug 3 199023.0Aug 4 199026.5Aug 5 199030.0Aug 6 199032.0Aug 7 199025.00.40.4Aug 8 199024.5Aug 9 199026.0Aug 10 199027.5Aug 11 199027.0Aug 13 199023.50.60.6Aug 13 199023.51.40.4Aug 15 199024.5Aug 16 199015.015.50.2Aug 17 199015.50.210.6Aug 21 199024.5Aug 21 199026.5Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.51.618.0Aug 23 199012.5Aug 24 199012.5Aug 25 199013.010.010.0Aug 25 199013.010.010.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 28 199025.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4		•	(Camrose)	(Dried Meat Lake)
Aug 2 1990 21.0 Aug 3 1990 23.0 Aug 4 1990 26.5 Aug 5 1990 30.0 Aug 6 1990 32.0 Aug 7 1990 25.0 0.4 Aug 8 1990 24.5 Aug 9 1990 26.0 Aug 10 1990 27.5 Aug 11 1990 27.5 Aug 13 1990 23.5 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 16 1990 15.5 Aug 18 1990 26.5 Aug 18 1990 15.0 Aug 21 1990 26.5 Aug 22 1990 16.0 Aug 22 1990 12.5 Aug 23 1990 22.5 Aug 24 1990 12.5 Aug 25 1990 16.0 Aug 25 1990 12.5 Aug 25 1990 12.5 Aug 25 1990 13.0 Aug 28 1990 24.0 Aug 28 1990 24.0 Aug 29 1990 25.0 Aug 30 1990 16.5 Aug 30 1990 16.5 Aug 30 1990 16.5	Aug 1 1990	2 K	6.8	22.0
Aug 3 199023.0Aug 4 199026.5Aug 5 199030.0Aug 6 199032.0Aug 7 199025.0 0.4 Aug 8 199024.5Aug 9 199026.0Aug 10 199027.5Aug 11 199027.0Aug 13 199023.5 0.6 Aug 13 199023.5Aug 15 199024.5Aug 16 199015.0Aug 18 199025.5Aug 199026.5Aug 199025.5Aug 15 199024.5Aug 16 199015.0Aug 21 199026.5Aug 21 199026.5Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.51.618.0Aug 23 199012.5Aug 25 199013.010.010.0Aug 25 199013.010.010.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 28 199025.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4		21.0		
Aug 4 1990 26.5 Aug 5 1990 30.0 Aug 6 1990 32.0 Aug 7 1990 25.0 0.4 Aug 8 1990 24.5 Aug 9 1990 26.0 Aug 10 1990 27.5 24.0 Aug 11 1990 27.0 Aug 13 1990 23.5 0.6 Aug 13 1990 23.5 0.6 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 16 1990 15.0 5.4 Aug 17 1990 15.5 0.2 Aug 18 1990 15.0 10.6 Aug 21 1990 24.5 Aug 21 1990 26.5 Aug 22 1990 19.5 1.6 Aug 23 1990 12.5 1.2 Aug 24 1990 12.5 1.2 Aug 25 1990 15.5 0.8 Aug 25 1990 13.0 10.0 Aug 26 1990 13.0 10.0 Aug 28 1990 24.0 Aug 28 1990 25.0 Aug 29 1990 25.0 Aug 30 1990 16.5 Aug 30 1990 16.5		23.0		
Aug 5 1990 30.0 30.0 Aug 6 1990 32.0 Aug 7 1990 25.0 0.4 Aug 8 1990 24.5 Aug 9 1990 26.0 Aug 10 1990 27.5 24.0 Aug 11 1990 27.0 Aug 12 1990 24.5 Aug 13 1990 23.5 0.6 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 16 1990 15.0 5.4 Aug 17 1990 15.5 0.2 Aug 18 1990 15.0 10.6 Aug 21 1990 24.5 Aug 21 1990 26.5 Aug 22 1990 19.5 Aug 23 1990 12.5 Aug 24 1990 12.5 Aug 25 1990 15.5 0.8 Aug 26 1990 13.0 Aug 26 1990 13.0 Aug 27 1930 20.0 Aug 28 1990 25.0 Aug 29 1990 25.0 Aug 30 1990 16.5 10.4		26.5		
Aug 7 199025.0 0.4 Aug 8 1990 24.5	Aug 5 1990	30.0		
Aug 8 199024.5Aug 9 199026.0Aug 10 199027.5Aug 11 199027.0Aug 12 199024.5Aug 13 199023.5Aug 13 199023.5Aug 15 199024.5Aug 16 199015.05.421.5Aug 17 199015.50.210.6Aug 18 199015.010.610.6Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.51.618.0Aug 23 199012.5Aug 25 199015.50.810.0Aug 26 199013.010.010.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4	Aug 6 1990	32.0		
Aug 9 199026.024.0Aug 10 199027.524.0Aug 11 199027.024.0Aug 12 199024.5	Aug 7 1990	25.0	0.4	
Aug 10 199027.524.0Aug 11 199027.0	Aug 8 1990	24.5		
Aug 11 1990 27.0 Aug 12 1990 24.5 Aug 13 1990 23.5 Aug 14 1990 23.5 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 15 1990 24.5 Aug 16 1990 15.0 Aug 16 1990 15.0 Aug 17 1990 15.5 Aug 18 1990 15.0 Aug 18 1990 15.0 Aug 19 1990 24.5 Aug 19 1990 24.5 Aug 20 1990 16.0 Aug 21 1990 26.5 Aug 22 1990 19.5 Aug 23 1990 12.5 Aug 24 1990 12.5 Aug 25 1990 15.5 Aug 26 1990 13.0 Aug 27 19:20 20.0 Aug 28 1990 25.0 Aug 29 1990 25.0 Aug 30 1990 16.5	Aug 9 1990	26.0		
Aug 12 199024.5Aug 13 199023.50.6Aug 14 199023.51.4Aug 15 199024.54.4Aug 16 199015.05.421.5Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 21 199026.51.4Aug 22 199019.51.6Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 28 199024.01.0.4	Aug 10 1990	27.5		24.0
Aug 13 199023.50.6Aug 14 199023.51.4Aug 15 199024.54.4Aug 16 199015.05.4Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.54.4Aug 20 199016.010.6Aug 21 199026.51.2Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.010.0Aug 28 199025.010.4	Aug 11 1990	27.0		
Aug 14 199023.51.4Aug 15 199024.54.4Aug 16 199015.05.4Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.54.4Aug 20 199016.010.6Aug 21 199026.51.6Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 25 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.010.0Aug 29 199025.010.4	Aug 12 1990	24.5		
Aug 15 199024.54.4Aug 16 199015.05.421.5Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.5Aug 20 199016.0Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.51.6Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 197020.0Aug 28 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4	Aug 13 1990	23.5	0.6	
Aug 16 199015.05.421.5Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.5	Aug 14 1990	23.5	1.4	
Aug 17 199015.50.2Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.5	Aug 15 1990	24.5	4.4	
Aug 18 199015.010.6Aug 19 199024.5	Aug 16 1990	15.0	5.4	21.5
Aug 19 199024.5Aug 20 199016.0Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.5Aug 23 199012.5Aug 24 199012.5Aug 25 199015.5Aug 26 199013.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199016.5Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 17 1990	15.5	1	
Aug 20 199016.0Aug 21 199026.5Aug 22 199019.5Aug 23 199012.5Aug 24 199012.5Aug 25 199015.5Aug 26 199013.0Aug 27 192020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 30 199016.510.4		15.0	10.6	
Aug 21 199026.51.618.0Aug 22 199019.51.618.0Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 24 199012.50.8Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4	Aug 19 1990	2 4.5		
Aug 22 199019.51.618.0Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 24 199012.50.8Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 20 1990	16.0		
Aug 23 199012.51.2Aug 24 199012.5Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 21 1990	26.5		
Aug 24 199012.5Aug 25 199015.5Aug 26 199013.0Aug 27 192020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 22 1990	19.5	1.6	18.0
Aug 25 199015.50.8Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 199020.010.0Aug 28 199024.010.0Aug 29 199025.010.4	Aug 23 1990	12.5	1.2	
Aug 26 199013.010.0Aug 27 193020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 24 1990	12.5		
Aug 27 192020.0Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.5	Aug 25 1990	15.5	0.8	
Aug 28 199024.0Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4	Aug 26 1990	13.0	10.0	
Aug 29 199025.0Aug 30 199016.510.4		20.0		
Aug 30 1990 16.5 10.4	Aug 28 1990	24.0		
	Aug 29 1990	25.0		
Aug 31 1990 13.0 6.0	Aug 30 1990	16.5	10.4	
	Aug 31 1990	13.0	6.0	

Table A5 Concluded.

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
	high (Camrose)	(Camrose)	(Dried Meat Lake)
Sept 1 1990	20.5		
Sept 2 1990	19.0		
Sept 3 1990	18.5		
Sept 4 1990	23.5		
Sept 5 1990	25.5		
Sept 6 1990	23.5		18.0
Sept 7 1990	26.0		
Sept 8 1990	13.0	4.2	
Sept 9 1990	22.5		
Sept 10 1990	24.5		17.0
Sept 11 1990	24.5		
Sept 12 1990	15.5	1.4	
Sept 13 1990	21.0		16.0
Sept 14 1990	23.0		
Sept 15 1990	25.0		
Sept 16 1990	24.0	tr	
Sept 17 1990	16.5		15.0
Sept 18 1990	22.5		
Sept 19 1990	17.5	tr	
Sept 20 1990	16.5		13.5
Sept 21 1990	16.5		
Sept 22 1990	24.0		
Sept 23 1990	28.5	-	
Sept 24 1990	28.0		14.5
Sept 25 1990	20.0		
Sept 26 1990	17.0		
Sept 27 1990	14.0	tr tr	13.5
Sept 28 1990	15.5		
Sept 29 1990	16.0		
Sept 30 1990	17.0		
Oct 1 1990	17.0		11.0
Oct 2 1990	11.5		
Oct 3 1990	9.0		
Oct 4 1990	2.0	15.8(snow)	

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
	high (Wetaskiwin)	(Wetaskiwin)	(Coal Lake)
July 1 1990	24.5	2.0	
July 2 1990	24.5	50.8	
July 3 1990	10.5	20.2	
July 4 1990	17.0		
July 5 1990	22.0	19.4	
July 6 1990	15.0	12.0	
July 7 1990	22.5		
July 8 1990	25.5		
July 9 1990	25.0	20.0	
July 10 1990	28.0		
July 11 1990	27.5		
July 12 1990	31.0	tr	
July 13 1990	26.0		
July 14 1990	26.0		
Iuly 15 1990	24.5		
July 16 1990	19.5	21.2	
July 17 1990	18.0	tr	
July 18 1990	19.0		
July 19 1990	18.5	tr	
July 20 1990	19.0		
July 21 1990	23.0		
July 22 1990	25.0		
July 23 1990	28.0		
July 24 1990	23.0	0.4	
July 25 1990	25.5	8.4	
July 26 1990	21.0	7.8	
July 27 1990	25.0	tr	
July 28 1990	25.5		
July 29 1990	24.0		
July 30 1990	28.0		
July 31 1990	28.5		
			Continued

Table A6 Wetaskiwin Area Weather (adapted from: Environment Canada, unpub. data 1990) and Coal Lake Water Temperature.

Table A6 Continued.

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
	high (Wetaskiwin)	(Wetaskiwin)	(Coal Lake)
Aug 1 1990	25.0		22.0
Aug 2 1990	21.5	8.2	
Aug 3 1990	23.5	0.8	
Aug 4 1990	27.0		
Aug 5 1990	30.0		
Aug 6 1990	32.0		
Aug 7 1990	27.0		
Aug 8 1990	25.0		
Aug 9 1990	26.0		
Aug 10 1990	29.0		22.0
Aug 11 1990	28.5		
Aug 12 1990	29.0	1.0	
Aug 13 1990	21.5	3.0	
Aug 14 1990	25.0	tr	
Aug 15 1990	25.0	20.0	
Aug 16 1990	15.5	1.8	21.5
Aug 17 1990	18.5	3.6	
Aug 18 1990	17.0	0.2	
Aug 19 1990	24.5		
Aug 20 1990	27.5		
Aug 21 1990	27.0	0.4	
Aug 22 1990	22.0	2.4	19.0
Aug 23 1990	12.0	0.2	
Aug 24 1990	10.5		
Aug 25 1990	14.0	0.8	
Aug 26 1990	15.0	2.4	
Aug 27 1990	21.5		
Aug 28 1990	25.0		
Aug 29 1990	26.0	3.6	
Aug 30 1990	18.5	6.4	18.0
Aug 31 1990	15.5	6.8	
L		<u> </u>	Continued

Table A6 Concluded.

Date	Temperature °C	Precipitation mm	Water Temp. °C
	high (Wetaskiwin)	(Wetaskiwin)	(Coal Lake)
Sept 1 1990	21.5		
Sept 2 1990	20.0	1.0	
Sept 3 1990	19.0		
Sept 4 1990	24.0		
Sept 5 1990	25.0		
Sept 6 1990	24.0		18.5
Sept 7 1990	27.0		
Sept 8 1990	15.0	tr	
Sept 9 1990	22.0		
Sept 10 1990	25.5		17.0
Sept 11 1990	25.0		
Sept 12 1990	15.0	tr	
Sept 13 1990	22.0		16.0
Sept 14 1990	23.5		
Sept 15 1990	25.0		
Sept 16 1990	22.5	1.2	
Sept 17 1990	17.0		15.5
Sept 18 1990	22.5		
Sept 19 1990	18.0	0.4	
Sept 20 1990	17.0		14.5
Sept 21 1990	18.0		
Sept 22 1990	25.5		
Sept 23 1990	29.5		
Sept 24 1990	29.0		13.5
Sept 25 1990	25.0		
Sept 26 1990	16.5		
Sept 27 1990	14.0		14.0
Sept 28 1990	15.0		
Sept 29 1990	15.0		
Sept 30 1990	17.5		
Oct 1 1990	15.0		11.5
Oct 2 1990	12.5		
Oct 3 1990	10.0		
Oct 4 1990	1.0	20.6(snow)	9.0

Date	C ₃	vanobacterial Gen	era	LR/Biomass		
	Aphanizomenon	Microcystis	Gomphos: naeria	(μg/g)		
Aug 01 90	50	48	2	189		
Aug 10 90	13	85	2	507		
Aug 16 90	10	90	0	490		
Aug 22 90	5	80	15	387		
Aug 30 90	30	40	30	418		
Sept 10 90	39	10	51	170		
Sept 13 90	28	18	54	124		
Sept 17 90	30	18	52	219		
Sept 20 90	54	6	40	47		
Sept 24 90	62	3	35	98		
Oct 01 90	40	2	58	179		
Oct 04 90	13	2	85	53		
Oct 11 90	17	0	83	6		

 Table A7
 Coal Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution

 Table A8
 Driedmeat Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution

Date	Cy	LR/Biomass			
1 1	Aphanizomenon	Microcystis	Gomphosphaeria	Anabaena	(µg/g)
Aug 01 90	50	45	0	5	87
Aug 10 90	i				17
Aug 16 90	20	80	0	0	177
Sep+ 10 90	21	40	13	25	372
Sept 13 90	55	33	3	9	245
Sept 17 90	90.3	0.4	2.8	6.5	199

Table A9 Little Beaver Lake Cyanobacterial Genera Distribution

Date	C	era	LR/Biomass			
	Aphanizomenon	Aphanizomenon Microcystis Other				
Aug 01 90				8		
Aug 10 90	95	5	0	24		
Aug 16 90	95	5	0	12		
Aug 22 90	95	5	0	34		
Aug 30 90	90	10	0	53		
Sept 10 90	83	17	0	20		
Sept 13 90	94	6	0	27		
Sept 20 90	95	5	0	209		
Sept 24 90	95	5	0	435		
Sept 27 90	95	3	2	74		
Oct 01 90	91.7	0.4	7.9	30		
Oct 04 90	100	0	0	25		
Oct 11 90	100	0	0	4		

2
2
ake
2
-
8
Ŝ
5
-
~
Å
Tal

		_		_	_		_						-
Mass	(g/gh)	87	17	177			372	245	199				
84	aeruginosa	45		80			40	33	0.4				
ਤ	(µg/L)	11.0	21.9	1.81	8,9	6.17	9.75	13.0	11.3	13.9	7.57	15.8	18.ó
Ammonia N	(µg/L)	146.4	5.6	172.9	478.0	21.8			36.2		166.6		53.9
Nitrate + Nitrite	N (µg/L)	35.7	4.2	13.8	42.9	4.9	21.1		57.9		147.5		40.0
Total Dissolved P Nitrate + Nitrite	(µg/L)	174	95.9	256	208	92.0	129		121		80.6		50.0
Total P	(µg/L)	226	148	348	255	121	192		164		125		117
Secchi Depth	(E	1.20	06.0	2.55	1.80	3.20	2.55	2.20	1.50	1.90	2.85	2.00	1.20
Water Temp.	ပ့	22.0	24.0	21.5	18.0	18.0	17.0	16.0	15.0	13.5	14.5	13.5	11.0
Date		1-Aug	10-Aug	16-Aug	22-Aug	6-Sev	10-Sep	13-Sen	17-Sep	20-Sep	24-Sep	27-Sep	-04

ata
Ő
ake
[]a
eat
<u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u><u></u></u>
Tie.
ã
II
N S
ğ
La

Dat
ake
1
Vel
Bea
ittle
Ē
112
۹,
Table
F

			_													
Mass LR/Biomass	(в/в́н)	80	24	12	Å			2ú	27		509	435	74	30	25	4
& Microcystis	aeruginosa		ц	ъ	ŝ	10		17	9		S	5	e	0.4	0	0
Chlorophyll-a	(µg/L)	21.6	53.2	101	37.7	61.7	8.46	7.27	12.5	11.1	20.2	31.0	10.5	34.0	11.9	24.9
Ammonia N	(μg/L)		83.3	1262	2813	1302	808			2296		2563		2355		2278
Nitrite + Nitrate	N (µg/L)	13.7	8.6	9.2	6.9	5.7	011	116		37		114		338		325
Total Dissolved P	(µg/L)	226	295	362	414	279	282	394		418		358		287		216
Total P	(I/g).,	148	363	444	517	410	335	427		455		445		406		274
Secchi Depth	(m)	0.10	0.80	1.00	0.80	0.65	1.40	>1.90	>2.0	1.50	1.50	>1.80	>2.20	1.20	1.80	
Water Temp.	ບູ	24.0	25.0	22.0	20.0	20.0	18.0	17.0	16.0	14.5	13.5	14.0	13.0	10.0	7.0	
Date		1-Aug	10-Aug	16-Aug	22-Aug	30-Aug	6-Sep	10-Sep	13-Sep	17-Sep	20-Sep	24-Sep	27-Sep	1-04	4 Oct	11-Oct



Figure A1 Positive Ion FAB Spectra of Isolated Microcystin LR in Magic Bullet Matrix



Figure A2 Positive Ion FAB Spectra of Microcystin LR Standard in Magic Bullet Matrix